
Report and Financial 
Statements





McKay Securities PLC  
Report and Financial Statements 201001

McKay Securities PLC is a commercial property
investment company with Real Estate Investment Trust
(REIT) status specialising in the development and
refurbishment of quality buildings within established 
and proven markets of South East England and 
central London. Completed projects are generally 
retained for growth within the Group’s portfolio, 
valued in excess of £205 million.

Properties are not traded and are actively managed 
to maximise income potential. As a result, there is a
hardcore rental stream under-pinning profits growth 
which is further secured from time to time by the 
sale of investment properties. 
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Financial Highlights

Up 12.8% to £89.16 million 
(2009 – £79.07 million)

Up 4.9% to 234 pence (2009 – 223 pence)

Profit before tax of £15.38million 
(2009 – loss £100.86 million)

Adjusted profit before tax £5.93 million
(2009 – £9.31 million)

EPRA earnings per share 13.26 pence 
(2009 – 20.38 pence)

Portfolio valuation at 31st March 2010 
of £205.95 million, resulting in a 3.5% 
(£7.06 million) increase in book value 
(2009 – £79.62 deficit)

10.2 % (2009 – minus 19.6%)

43.2 % (2009 – 51.5%)

£88.96 million (2009 – £115.42 million)
covered by banking facilities totalling 
£185.00 million, with a weighted average
maturity of 5.7 years

4.9% (2009 – 4.4%)

5.5 pence (2009 – 9.5 pence), making 
the total dividend per share for the year 
8.2 pence (2009 – 14.2 pence)

Shareholders’ funds

EPRA net asset value per share

Profits and earnings

Valuation gains

Total property return

Loan to value

Net debt

Weighted average cost of borrowings

Final Dividend per share
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Chairman’s statement

Shareholders’ funds increased by 12.8%
to £89.16 million at the end of the period
(2009 – £79.07 million). EPRA net 
asset value per share increased 4.9% 
to 234 pence (2009 – 223 pence).

The external valuation of the Group’s
property portfolio at 31st March 2010
totalled £205.95 million, representing 
a 3.5% (£7.06 million) increase in 
book value for the twelve month period 
to 31st March 2010 and a 6.1% 
(£11.75 million) increase since 
30th September 2009.

Profit before tax for the year, incorporating
the valuation gain for the period and 
profit on the sale of investment properties
of £0.24 million, was £15.38 million 
(2009 – £100.86 million loss). Adjusted
profit before tax, which excludes these
and other non recurring items, was 
£5.93 million (2009 – £9.31 million).

The Board has recommended a final
dividend of 5.5 pence per share 
(2009 – 9.5 pence per share) payable 
on 5th August 2010.

Review of the year
I am pleased to report on a resilient
performance throughout a challenging year,
during which the Group’s portfolio has
performed well, the balance sheet has been
strengthened and favourable long term
financing remains intact.

It was encouraging to start the year with the
pace of decline in capital values continuing 
to slow as an increasing number of investors
returned to the commercial property market.
Driven by demand from institutional investors,
values for prime properties then improved
during the second half of the year as the low
interest rate environment accentuated the
income appeal of property as an asset class.

Take up of office floor space by occupiers for
the year in the South East office market to 
the west of London, which accounts for 
43% of the Group’s portfolio value, was 
1.2 million sq ft; well below the five year
average of 2.4 million sq ft. After a decline 
in rental values over the period, a floor is 
now being established as occupiers are
increasingly attracted to the value on offer, 
as indicated by the recent pick up in enquires
reported to us.

The Group’s strategy of cyclical development
and active management of quality assets in
established locations has so far proved
robust. Tenant failure has been limited, rents
continued to be paid promptly and voids
remained below those recorded by the IPD
Index. At the year end, the portfolio provided 
a resilient income stream and the Group’s 
top ten properties in particular provided a
solid base for the future.

By retaining a high quality portfolio through
the downturn, the Group has benefited from
the rally in commercial property values with 
a 3.5% valuation surplus contributing to a
12.8% increase in shareholders’ funds for the
year. Total Shareholder Return for the twelve
month period was 54.9%. Profit before tax,
which includes the valuation surplus and a
profit of £0.24 million on the sale of three
investment properties, totalled £15.38
million. This compares with a £100.86 million
loss last year when the Group’s property
portfolio and interest rate hedging
instruments declined in value by 
£103.29 million.

The three priorities that have dominated the
Group’s strategy over the year have been the
further strengthening of the balance sheet,
protection and retention of our competitive
financing and successful management of 
the Group’s portfolio. These will remain our
priorities as there continue to be many
hurdles in the path of recovery for current 
and prospective tenants, trading through 
the deepest recession in a generation. 
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Chairman’s statement continued

Consistent with this approach, net proceeds
of £27.33 million realised from the successful
disposal of three properties have not yet been
reinvested. This has helped strengthen the
Group’s financial position at the year end; 
net debt has reduced over the year to 
£88.96 million (2009 — £115.42 million), 
the loan to value ratio stands at 43.2% 
and undrawn banking facilities totalling
£95.40 million remain available on
unamended low margins.

A consequence of deferring the reinvestment
of sale proceeds from property disposals is 
a reduced level of income from the portfolio.
Despite continued success in the letting of
void properties and the retention of the
majority of those tenants with a lease expiry 
or break clause, net rental income from the
portfolio for the year reduced by £3.10 million
to £15.60 million. This was mainly due to the
loss of £1.90 million of income from the
properties disposed of compared with 
their contribution in 2009, and the loss 
of £1.03 million of income from planned
refurbishment opportunities. Primarily as 
a result of this overall reduction in income, 
the Group’s adjusted profit before tax for the
period of £5.93 million was £3.38 million
lower than last year (2009 — £9.31 million).

Success in generating income from new
lettings and retaining existing tenants, 
despite challenging market conditions, has
helped maintain a low portfolio void which
increased slightly to 11.6% (by rental value)
(2009 – 10.4%). Fourteen open market
lettings were completed at a total contracted
rent of £0.44 million pa, which was slightly
ahead of rents assumed at valuation. 
Larger lettings included the recently
refurbished 9th and 10th floors of 
Corinthian House, Croydon and three 
new lettings at the Oakwood Trade Park,
Crawley. In addition, 80% of tenants with a
lease expiry or break clause were retained,
maintaining contracted rental income of
£1.93 million pa.

Interest payable reduced by £0.84 million 
to £5.50 million. 

This was mainly due to a reduction of 
£26.46 million in net debt over the period, 
as a result of disposals, retained profit and
continued low interest rates. Included within
administrative costs for the period is an
increase in professional fees associated 
with raising the Group’s profile with the City. 
This has already been of benefit to the 
Group and will continue to enhance 
investor awareness of the future potential 
of the business. In addition, £0.29 million 
of the increase in administration costs
constituted non-cash accounting treatment 
in respect of share options and pension
payments, and £0.37 million was the 
cost of the partial achievement of
performance targets within the 
Annual Bonus Scheme.

We continue to closely monitor and improve
our detailed knowledge of the supply and
demand characteristics of our principal 
South East regional market area. 
An increasing number of centres are
experiencing Grade A office vacancy of
below 5%, and we have identified significant
potential demand from occupiers with lease
expiries over the next three years in ageing
and, in many cases, obsolete buildings. 
There is a limited amount of new development
activity on site and in the pipeline and,
although some refurbishment is anticipated, a
shortage of good quality supply is anticipated
over the next two years. This supply shortfall
will assist an increase in rental values as
existing Grade A stock is taken up by
recovering tenant demand.

No acquisitions were made during the 
period, but many opportunities were and
continue to be appraised. We will remain
opportunity led in our search for acquisitions
in key centres that have the potential to
generate value from our development 
and management skills. At present, the 
risks associated with the weak occupier
market are not sufficiently reflected in 
market values, but we anticipate an
increasing number of opportunities 
appearing as the cycle progresses.
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Development prospects already in 
the portfolio include the potential
redevelopment of 30-32 Lombard Street,
EC3 (36,140 sq ft). The expiry of existing
leases would permit implementation of the
existing planning consent for a top quality
headquarters development of 60,000 sq ft 
to commence at the end of 2012. The City 
of London has begun to see an upward
movement in rents as a result of supply
shortages at the top end of the market. 
This has improved the scheme’s viability,
although further indications of rental growth
are needed before the scheme would be
sufficiently profitable to justify a speculative
start on site.

Dividend
The Board has recommended a final 
dividend of 5.5 pence per share 
(2009 – 9.5 pence per share). This will be
paid as a Property Income Distribution (PID)
on 5th August 2010 to those on the register
at the close of business on 11th June 2010,
taking the total dividend for the year, all 
paid as a PID, to 8.2 pence per share 
(2009 – 14.2 pence per share).

The reduced level of dividend recommended
by the Board takes into account the impact 
of property disposals on the level of earnings
from the portfolio and uncertainty over the
pace of economic recovery. As noted at the
half year stage, it is the Board’s intention 
to re-base the dividend this year to establish 
a sustainable level of distribution to
shareholders on the basis that occupier
markets begin to improve, whilst continuing 
to meet the REIT regulations.

Future Prospects
The Group has further strengthened its
balance sheet and has a sustainable level 
of gearing with no near term refinancing risk.
Its portfolio, which is anchored by high quality
properties developed internally and occupied
by a variety of high net worth companies, will
provide a sound base from which to grow. In
the short term, the property disposals made
this year will see a further reduction in
earnings next year, and the pace of income
generation from portfolio lettings remains
dependent on a sustained recovery in
occupier demand. Investor demand 
should remain for prime properties with
limited income risk, but this is less likely to
generate ongoing capital gains than an 
active approach to income generation; 
one of the Group’s strengths.

Looking beyond the short term, fundamental
shortfalls in the supply of good quality floor
space within the South East office market 
and our unique position within this market,
leave the Group well placed to benefit from 
a supply led recovery.

The outlook is far from clear and we face
another challenging year. Although we 
will continue to appraise new acquisition
opportunities and look to position the
portfolio for future growth, we will protect 
our strong position with a patient and
selective approach, adopting a more
expansive strategy as occupier market
conditions improve.

D.O. Thomas

Chairman

3rd June 2010

Chairman’s statement continued
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Property and Financial Review

Overview
The Group continues to be the only REIT
(Real Estate Investment Trust) specialising 
in the office and industrial markets of 
South East England and central London. 
Its strategy is to add to portfolio scale and
value at the appropriate point in the cycle 
by refurbishment and development, whilst
actively managing the recurring income
stream from its current portfolio to underpin
Group profits. Selective sales are made to
recycle capital into new projects and to
maintain a sustainable level of gearing.

After an active period of development leading
up to the severe downturn in the property
market in 2007, when five major projects 
were completed at a cost of £39.04 million,
conditions have not been appropriate to
commit capital to development projects.
Although the Group is one of a small number
of property companies with the funding and
skills to carry out development in these
markets, the focus over the period has been
to manage its portfolio of existing properties
and monitor the market for investment
opportunities with income and capital 
growth potential.

The portfolio as at 31st March 2010
consisted of 31 properties totalling 
1.18 million sq ft, valued at £205.95 million
with an average lot size of £6.64 million. 
78% of this value was invested in the 
office sector, with the balance mainly 
in the South East industrial sector. 
Gross rental income for the year was 
£17.12 million, and net income from
investment properties was £15.60 million.
The portfolio had 129 occupiers and 
annual contracted rents totalled £16.67
million pa. These occupiers represented 
a diverse range of business sectors, the
largest of which was financial and business
services, which accounted for 31% 
of annual contracted rents. 61% 
of annual contracted rents was 

payable by tenants with the highest 
Dun and Bradstreet credit rating 
(5A - net worth in excess of £35.00 million)
and 66% was payable by tenants with 
a net worth in excess of £15.00 million 
(credit rating 5A and 4A). The weighted
average lease term of the portfolio was 
6.8 years, and 5.9 years to the earlier 
of break or expiry. The portfolio void 
(by market rental value) was 11.6% 
(31st March 2009 – 10.4%) consisting 
of a total of 151,500 sq ft in 14 vacant units
with a combined rental value of £2.06 million.

The top 10 properties by rental value
accounted for 66% of annual contracted
rents and 65% of the total portfolio value.
87% of annual contracted rents in respect 
of these properties was payable by tenants
with a 5A credit rating and the weighted
average lease term was 8.3 years, and 
7.4 years to the earlier of break or expiry.

Total Portfolio Return for the period 
was 10.2% (2009 — minus 19.6%). 
This out-performed the South East office
segment of the IPD Monthly Index (8.9%), 
but under-performed the Index as a whole
(16.3%). The retail segment of the Index,
which accounted for half the index by value,
achieved a total return of 19.2%, which had 
a weighted effect.

Market Review
At the end of the last financial year, the pace
in the decline of capital values of all sectors 
of UK commercial real estate had slowed. 
Values continued to fall until August 2009, 
by which time the IPD Monthly Index (South
East Offices) had recorded a capital fall of
43% from the peak in spring 2007. Since 
last August, values have increased as a range
of investors returned to the market, including
institutional investors who competed for a
limited supply of quality assets. This interest
generated a strong market for the best quality
assets, but with bank finance remaining
limited and concerns over the strength of the

Sector mix (by value)
 
Offices 78%
South East industrial 20%
London residential 2%

20%

78%

2%

Office sector locations (by value)
 
South East 56%
London – City 10%
London – Victoria 4%
Outer London 19%
Scotland 11%

56%10%

19%

11%

4%

Profile of Lot sizes
 
£ Million No.
0 to 2 7
2 to 5  9
5 to 10 10
10 to 15 2
15+ 3

3
7

9
10

2
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occupational market, investment volumes 
for secondary properties with income risk 
and imminent capital expenditure remained
low. At the year end, the decline in the IPD
Monthly Index (South East offices) from the
spring 2007 peak to 31st March 2010 had
recovered to 40%, compared with a 32% fall
in the capital value of the Group’s properties
held over the same period.

In the three year period leading up to the
2007 peak in the market, £5.67 billion in total
was invested in the South East office sector.
Over half was in the Group’s preferred lot
size of sub £30.00 million. It is likely that
many of these transactions will be in breach
of bank covenants due to the fall in capital
values, but lenders to date have been
prepared to vary the terms of loans rather
than create a market of distressed assets, 
as seen in the 1990’s. As these positions
unwind, there are likely to be more
opportunities for the Group to consider. 
The Group’s market knowledge and
experience of development and improvement
costs will be key to stock selection in this
market.

Over the period, the decline in active
occupier demand for office and industrial
property which we reported last year has
continued, resulting in low annual levels 

of take up. Occupiers have remained cost
conscious, headline rental values have 
fallen and letting incentives have increased 
as landlords have competed to secure
income. Across the South East there is 
not a consistent market rent as the
characteristics of each centre differ
considerably. However, in those centres
where the supply is more limited, rental 
values have generally found a floor.

Supply characteristics also vary significantly
across the different centres. The supply 
of new Grade A office buildings is less 
than 5% of the total office stock of 
85.5 million sq ft, and there are only 
two development projects on site across 
the whole of the market which are due to
complete shortly. Many office centres in the
Group’s market benefited from considerable
growth and development in the 1980’s and
1990’s. Lease commitments made at that
time are now beginning to expire. With no
schemes due to commence imminently 
and 64% of offices within the IPD index 
in excess of 15 years old, those occupiers
seeking modern accommodation will have
limited choice. Any consequent pick up 
in demand is likely to help generate rental
growth to a level that will improve
development prospects.

Property and Financial Review continued
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Initial yield, 5 year gilt yield and 5 year swap rate
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Property and Financial Review continued

Portfolio activity
The Group has continued to manage its way
through the downturn by positioning itself
with a reduced level of gearing, principally
from three property disposals. Two mature
smaller properties with income risk at
Thatcham and Petersfield were bought by
private investors. A more substantial sale at
Lotus Park, Staines to an institutional investor
completed in October 2009. The intention 
at this property had been to implement a
second phase of refurbishment in March
2013, when income of £1.16 million pa 
was due to expire, but the price achieved
captured the potential gains achievable on
refurbishment for no risk. Sales realised 
net proceeds of £27.33 million, and a net
profit over 31st March 2009 book value of
£0.24 million.

These properties contributed net rental
income this year of £1.26 million compared
with £2.40 million last year, as the disposals
completed mid way through the year. 
The disposals have reduced net rental
income this year by £1.14 million 
and will reduce net rental income for 
the year to 31st March 2011 by a further 
£1.26 million.

The quality of many of the Group’s properties
has attracted unsolicited market interest.
However, until the outlook for occupational
markets is clearer, the sale of properties with
secure income will be limited in order to avoid
reducing shareholder income returns and to
retain the potential for growth as market
conditions improve.

Having completed and let all major
development and refurbishment projects
before the downturn in occupier markets, 
the Group has no development exposure. 
It does however continue to undertake
smaller planned refurbishment projects 
within the portfolio to enhance value and
letting potential. Prospects for development
are kept under review, and once market
conditions are more favourable, development
schemes will be brought forward. The most
significant scheme within the Group’s
development pipeline is the potential

redevelopment of 30/32 Lombard Street,
EC3, where planning consent exists 
to redevelop the 36,140 sq ft 1960’s 
building with a top quality office scheme of
60,000 sq ft. As the viability of this scheme
improves with increasing rental values in the
City, income and development flexibility is
being retained and there is encouraging
interest in a significant proportion of the
remaining 10,550 sq ft of vacant office space.

Whilst the development programme has 
been halted, portfolio management has been
successful in limiting the number of void
properties and ensuring those that do 
exist stand the best chance of letting in
challenging market conditions. 26 lease
renewals and open market lettings were
completed over the period, at a total
contracted rental value of £1.25 million pa.
66% of tenants were retained at lease
renewal, accounting for twelve of these
lettings. It was also encouraging to retain
94% of tenants who had the ability to
exercise break clauses over the period. 
This high success rate reflects the benefit 
of a close working relationship with occupiers
and the Group’s active approach to portfolio
management.

All voids have been actively marketed and are
presented in good condition in established
markets with minimal capital expenditure
required. The three largest void properties at
Portsoken House, EC3; The McKay Trading
Estate, Poyle, and Switchback Office Park,
Maidenhead account for 50% of the void
rental value. Refurbishment of 24,500 sq ft 
of office space and common areas at
Portsoken House and 6,800 sq ft building 
at Switchback Office Park were completed
earlier in the year. The properties were
formally launched to the market in September.
Since then tenant demand has been limited,
although the remaining vacant retail unit on
the ground floor at Portsoken House was let.
At Poyle, units 1-3 and 8 are being marketed,
and have been attracting occupier interest.
With some additional refurbishment works, it
is hoped that these units will benefit from the
increasing volume of air freight, being located
immediately to the West of Heathrow.

15+

3-5

0-3

5-10

10-15

Year to expiry (exc breaks)
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0 to 3 3.3
3 to 5  5.7
5 to 10 1.6
10 to 15 5.6
15+ 0.4 
Weighted average lease length 6.8 years
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Source: Dun & Bradstreet

61%

5%

3%
8%

5%

14%

0-3

5-10

10-15

Year to expiry (inc breaks)
 
Years £’ million
0 to 3 4.6
3 to 5  5.5
5 to 10 1.8
10 to 15 4.8
15+ 0 
Weighted average lease length 5.9 years

3-5



2010 2009
aaaa aaaa

Portfolio Capital Return1

The annual valuation and realised surpluses from the 
Group's investment portfolio expressed as a percentage 
return on the valuation at the beginning of the year, 
adjusted for acquisitions and capital expenditure. 3.2% -25.3%

Total Portfolio Return
The portfolio capital return referred to above and 
net rental income from investment properties for 
the year expressed as a percentage return on the 
valuation at the beginning of the year, adjusted for 
acquisitions and capital expenditure. 10.1% -19.6%

Net Asset Value Return2

The growth in adjusted net asset value per Ordinary 
share plus dividends reinvested per Ordinary share 
expressed as a percentage of the adjusted net asset 
value per share at the beginning of the year. 12.7% -41.3%

Total Shareholder Return (TSR)3

The growth in the value of an Ordinary share plus 
dividends reinvested during the year expressed as a
percentage of the share price at the beginning of the 
year. 54.9% -64.1%

Key performance indicators
used in managing the
business include the
following:

Notes:
1 This measures both realised and
unrealised movements in portfolio 
values over the year. 

2 This is a common sector measure as
movements are heavily influenced by
changes in the value of the portfolio 
and the extent of borrowings.

3 This indicates movements in the value 
of a shareholders’ investment, although
not directly related to the profitability 
of the Group.
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In respect of other small voids, unit 7 at 
The Three Acre Estate, Folkestone was
vacated in the second half of the year.
Occupier interest has been encouraging,
attracted by the flexible retail planning
consent achieved by the Group. 

New lettings that have helped maintain a 
low void level were completed at Oakwood
Trade Park, Crawley, where three units
totalling 12,800 sq ft were let at a combined
contracted rent of £102,000 pa. The new
occupiers added to the improving mix of
trade counter operators at the Park and have
maintained the repositioning from low value
warehouse uses. Lease terms were also
renegotiated on two units during the period
leaving two empty units at the year end.

At Corinthian House, Croydon the 9th and
10th floors (7,275 sq ft) were let at the
beginning of the year at a contracted rent of
£140,775 pa. This followed refurbishment of
the floors and common parts of the building
completed in 2008. When the property was
acquired in 2006, the intention was to retain
income ahead of a possible redevelopment 

in the medium term once the Croydon
Gateway site opposite the building had 
been developed. Planning consent for 
the Gateway scheme has been obtained,
although market conditions have delayed
implementation.

Elsewhere smaller lettings have been
important in keeping void costs down and
collectively maintaining income levels.

The impact of the recession on the ability 
of occupiers to meet their rental obligations
has to date been limited. Over the period
there were two business failures with 
a combined rental commitment of 
£108,800 pa; both units have been 
re-let with no loss of rent. Tenants paying 
rent on a monthly rather than quarterly basis
remain below 1% of annual contracted rents,
and in excess of 90% of rents were paid
within 7 days of each quarter day. 
The Group continues to collect its own 
rents as it provides direct awareness of 
any payment difficulties, which are likely 
to increase if economic conditions take 
a protracted time to improve.



McKay Securities PLC  
Report and Financial Statements 2010 14

Valuation
The independent external valuation of the
Group’s property portfolio as at 31st March
2010 totalled £205.95 million, representing 
a 3.5% (£7.06 million) increase in book value
for the 12 month period, disregarding SIC 15
lease incentive accounting adjustments. 
A surplus of £11.75 million (6.1%) in the
second half of the year reflected the recovery
in capital values referred to above, after 
a deficit in the first half of the year of 
£4.69 million. The best performing properties
were those with long leases and strong
covenants, and where income levels have
been maintained through active management.
Vacant properties and those with short term
income were marked down further, but
provide potential for gains when re-let. 
The valuation gain of 3.5% for the year
compares favourably with a decrease in value
of the IPD Monthly Index (South East Offices)
of -0.2%. The Index increased by 7.6% for 
all property, reflecting a 10.6% gain in 
retail capital values.

At the valuation date, the portfolio initial yield
was 7.0% (2009 – 7.6%), increasing to 
7.5% (2009 – 8.2%) on the expiry of letting
incentives. The true equivalent yield was 
7.8% (2009 – 8.9%) being the average
income return reflecting future expenditure
and rental movements, with rent paid
quarterly in advance.

Finance
As at 31st March 2010, the Group’s 
net debt was £88.96 million (2009 –
£115.42 million). The reduced level of 
debt was primarily due to sale proceeds 
from the disposal of three investment
properties, with the net disinvestment 
in the portfolio totalling £25.25 million 
(2009 – £11.43 million disinvestment).

The ratio of net debt to portfolio value (LTV)
as at 31st March 2010 was 43.2% 
(2009 – 51.5%), and the gearing ratio 
to shareholders’ funds was 99.8% 
(2009 – 146.0%). Net cash flow from
operating activities was £6.86 million 
(2009 – £5.18 million) and interest cover
based on adjusted profit before tax plus
finance costs as a ratio to finance costs, 
was 2.1x (2009 – 2.5x).

Banking facilities available to the Group
totalled £185.00 million at the year end
(2009 – £185.00 million). £30.00 million
expires in March 2011, and the balance
continues until at least February 2016. 
The average weighted unexpired term to
maturity was 5.7 years (2009 – 6.7 years).

As a REIT, the Group is tax exempt in respect
of capital gains and all qualifying rental
income, which includes the majority of the
Group’s activities. Any tax charge on residual
income has been offset by deductible costs.

Property and Financial Review continued

Yields and occupancy
Occupancy

£million % % %
pa Yield (by floor area) (by rental value)

Contracted rental income1 16.4 7.5 87 88
Reversions2 (1.1)
Void properties 2.1 13 12
Portfolio reversion3 1.0

aaaa aaaa aaaa

Total portfolio3 17.4 8.0 100 100
aaaa aaaa aaaa

Notes:
1 Contracted rental income at 31st March 2010, less ground rent
2 Disregards rent over current market rent for leases with more than 10 years to expiry
3 Yield on portfolio valuation at 31st March 2010 with notional purchasers costs (5.75%) added



McKay Securities PLC  
Report and Financial Statements 201015

The Group is also required to distribute at
least 90% of rental income profits arising
each financial year by way of a Property
Income Distribution (PID). Subject to
exemptions, this is paid after deduction 
of withholding tax, at present 20%. 
The final dividend of 5.5 pence per share 
will be paid as a PID to meet this minimum
distribution requirement. After deduction 
of withholding tax, the net receipt will be 
4.4 pence per share.

The main financial risks to the Group are
compliance with financial covenants on 
bank borrowing, tenant default, liquidity 
and interest rate movements on bank
borrowings.

Compliance with financial covenants is
closely monitored by the Board with the 
use of scenario analysis to help its financial
planning. Throughout the period the Group
complied with all such covenants and 
retains significant headroom should there 
be a further decline in capital values. 
This headroom improved over the period 
due to the increase in the value of 
the Group’s portfolio and the sale 
of investment properties.

Tenant default is monitored using 
Dun & Bradstreet checks for new tenants
together with ongoing credit checks and
internal credit control. This, together with
close management of rental income and
suppliers, ensures the Group’s ability to
generate income to meet its commitments.

Liquidity risk is managed through a mixture 
of short and long term facilities that ensure
sufficient funds are available to cover
potential liabilities arising against projected
cash flows, particularly tenant default.

Protection against interest rate risk is
provided by financial hedging instruments. 
At the year end, £155.00 million 
(2009 – £155.00 million) of such
instruments were in place, extending 
to at least 2014. If bank borrowing facilities
were fully drawn, hedging cover would be
83.8% (2009 – 83.8%). The mark to market
valuation of these facilities improved by
£2.30 million to a negative value of 
£22.53 million (2009 – £24.83 million). 
The weighted average cost of borrowing 
increased marginally for the year to 4.9%
(2009 – 4.4%) as the cost of the financial
hedging instruments was applied to a 
lower level of debt. As well as providing 
future protection, £130 million of the hedging
facilities are on terms that have enabled the
Group to benefit from a floor in hedging levels
closer to the current historically low LIBOR
borrowing rates. These facilities revert to fixed
levels in 2011, at which point on current
interest rate projections, the weighted cost of
borrowing will increase, unless the terms are
renegotiated beforehand. The Group does
not hedge account its interest rate derivatives
and therefore includes the movement in 
fair value in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

S.C. Perkins

A.S. Childs

3rd June 2010

84%

16%

Banking facilities – Maturities
 
1 to 2 years  16%
5 to 10 years 84%



Portfolio Properties
At 31st March 2010

Area 
sq. ft

1111

£20m and over – 27.3% of portfolio
SW19 Wimbledon Gate, Worple Road (office and retail) 58,690
Reading Great Brighams Mead, Vastern Road (office) 84,840

£10m to £20m - 20.3% of portfolio
Crawley Pegasus Place, Gatwick Road (office) 50,035
Glasgow 100 Bothwell Street (office) 100,270
Runnymede Runnymede Focus, Windsor Road (industrial and office) 91,185

£5m to £10m – 36.6% of portfolio
EC3* 30/32 Lombard Street (office) 36,140
EC3* Portsoken House, Minories (office and retail) 47,000
SE1 Great Surrey House, Blackfriars Road (office) 21,560
SW1 1 Castle Lane (office) 14,180
Croydon Corinthian House, Dingwall Road (office) 44,170
Fleet Centaur House and Eastgate House, Ancells Park (office) 35,135
Maidenhead Switchback Office Park, Gardner Road (office) 37,380
Poyle McKay Trading Estate, Blackthorne Road (industrial and office) 74,760
Reading 20/30 Greyfriars Road (office) 32,770
Staines Mallard Court, Market Square (office and retail) 22,120
Weybridge Sopwith Drive, Brooklands (industrial and office) 62,800

£2m to £5m – 13.1% of portfolio
SW1* Parkside, Knightsbridge (residential) 4,940
Banbury Lower Cherwell Street Industrial Estate (industrial) 39,980
Bicester McKay Trading Estate, Station Approach (industrial and office) 85,225
Crawley Oakwood Trade Park, Gatwick Road (industrial) 53,725
Folkestone 3 Acre Estate, Park Farm Road (industrial) 45,950
Folkestone 5 Acre Estate, Park Farm Road (industrial) 60,260
Hook Bartley House, Station Road (office) 21,705
Staines Waterman’s Court, Kingsbury Crescent (office) 10,770

£2m and below – 2.7% of portfolio
SE1 202 Blackfriars Road (office) 2,000
Chobham Castle Grove Road (land) —
Newbury Access House, Strawberry Hill (office) 17,040
Newbury Albion House, Oxford Road (office) 6,520
Newbury Strawberry Hill House, Bath Road (office) 12,040
Reading 20 Hosier Street (retail) 3,800
Staines 2 Clarence Street (office) 3,435

Notes:
Percentages based on the Group valuation at 31st March 2010.
*Denotes leasehold properties
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2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Gross rental income 17,117 20,267 19,351 17,307 15,773

Net rental income from
investment properties 15,598 18,700 18,425 16,479 18,369

Operating profit before gains
on investment properties 11,443 15,424 15,059 12,471 15,081

Profit/(loss) before taxation 15,382 (100,861) (43,405) 57,455 46,008

Adjusted profit before taxation 5,928 9,315 8,381 7,220 6,569

Investment properties 204,896 222,338 314,740 351,110 304,687

Loans and other borrowings (89,141) (116,099) (127,816) (111,139) (109,559)

Total equity 89,159 79,065 186,903 235,990 165,960

Ordinary dividends per share 8.2p 14.2p 14.3p 11.0p 10.2p

Earnings per share – basic 33.6p (220.3)p (94.8)p 162.3p 73.1p

Earnings per share – adjusted 12.9p 20.3p 18.3p 14.7p 12.4p

Net asset value per share 195p 173p 408p 515p 364p

EPRA net asset value per share 234p 223p 411p 506p 421p

Interest cover 2.1 2.5 2.2 2.0 1.9

Gearing to shareholders’ funds (%) 100 146 66 47 65

The above figures are extracted from previous accounts based on IFRSs effective at those dates.
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Board of Directors

David Thomas F.C.A.
Chairman
Aged 65. Appointed Chairman in July 2007, having been appointed 
a non-executive Director in September 2005. Chartered Accountant.
Founder Director of Jarvis Hotels Ltd, Chairman of Exterity Ltd 
and non-executive Chairman of the Chesham Building Society 
until 31st May 2010. A member of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committees. Appointed to the Audit Committee with effect from
1st April 2010.

Andrew Gulliford F.R.I.C.S.
Senior Independent Director
Aged 63. Appointed a non-executive Director in April 2004.
Chartered Surveyor and former Deputy Senior Partner of 
Cushman & Wakefield Healey & Baker. Non-executive Director 
of Helical Bar plc, Glenstone Investment Company Ltd, 
University Staff Superannuation Ltd and IRP Property 
Investment Trust Ltd. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
and a member of the Audit and Nomination Committees.

Nigel Aslin F.R.I.C.S.
Non-executive
Aged 61. Appointed a non-executive Director in May 2006.
Chartered Surveyor and former Partner responsible for 
Strutt & Parker’s Thames Valley office. Chairman of the 
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees.

Viscount Lifford F.S.I.
Non-executive
Aged 61. Appointed a non-executive Director in September 2006.
Director of Rathbones Brothers PLC until October 2006 
with responsibility for their regional investment offices. 
Now a Director of Rathbone Investment Management (C.I.) Ltd.
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

Simon Perkins BSc(Hons), M.R.I.C.S.
Managing Director
Aged 45. Joined the Company in August 2000 after ten years 
with business park developer, Arlington Securities PLC. 
Appointed a Director in April 2001, and Managing Director 
in January 2003. Member of the Nomination Committee.

Alan Childs
Finance Director
Aged 60. Joined the Company in November 1973. 
Appointed a Director in 1996.

Steven Mew DipPropInv, M.R.I.C.S.
Director
Aged 42. Joined the Company in September 2001 having spent 
12 years with property consultants, Gooch Webster. Appointed 
a Director in August 2002.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and audited
financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2010.

Profit and distribution
The profit for the year is set out in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Profit before tax was £15,382,000 
(2009 – £100,861,000 loss).

On 1st April 2007 the Group converted to Real Estate Investment
Trust (REIT) status. Under the REIT regime the Company will, in 
the normal course of business, be required to pay at least 90% 
of its income profits arising in each accounting period, by way of a 
Property Income Distribution (PID) but in addition may also make
normal dividend payments. An interim dividend of 2.7 pence per 
share was paid as a PID to shareholders on 14th January 2010.

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 5.5 pence per share 
to be paid as a PID, making a total PID for the year of 8.2 pence 
per share (2009 – 14.2 pence PID). If approved at the Annual
General Meeting on 22nd July 2010 the dividend will be paid on 
5th August 2010 to shareholders on the register of the Company 
at the close of business on 11th June 2010.

Activity and assets
The business of the Group is that of property investment and
development in the United Kingdom. The Group also holds an
investment in Property Investment Holdings Limited and details 
are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Business review
A review of the business and likely future developments including 
key performance indicators and risks and uncertainties affecting the
Group are given in the Property and Financial Review on pages 8 to 15.

Property valuations
The Group’s properties were valued by external professional valuers 
at 31st March 2010. An increase in value of £6,738,620 has 
been included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income inclusive of SIC15 rental adjustments, and then transferred 
to the Revaluation Reserve in the financial statements. A further
£55,180 revaluation from our associated undertaking has also 
been included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and then taken to the Revaluation Reserve

After taking into account retained profits and dividends paid during 
the year, net asset value per share is 195 pence (2009 – 173 pence).

Directors
The Board of Directors for the financial year to 31st March 2010 was:

D.O. Thomas (Chairman)
S.C. Perkins
A.S. Childs
S.R. Mew
S. Morrice (to 8.5.09)
A.E.G. Gulliford
N. Aslin
Viscount Lifford

Biographical details are set out on page 18. In accordance 
with the Group’s Articles of Association Mr A.S. Childs, 
Mr A.E.G. Gulliford and Viscount Lifford retire by rotation, 
and being eligible, will also offer themselves for re-election.

Apart from service contracts and share options, details of which are 
set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 31, 
no Director had a material business interest during the year in any
contract with the Company.

Mr S. Morrice resigned as a Director on 8th May 2009.

Substantial shareholdings
Apart from the Directors’ interests referred to in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 31 the Group has been advised
of the following notifiable interests in its issued share capital 
(see note 20) as at 3rd June 2010:

Shares %
Norton Securities Limited 2,712,552 5.9
Rimpton Securities Limited 2,712,551 5.9
Mr I.A. McKay 1,677,440 3.7
Legal & General Investment Management 1,563,221 3.4

As far as the Company is aware, there are no persons with significant
direct or indirect holdings in the Company other than those noted
above.

Corporate Social Responsibility
The Directors recognise that the way the Group undertakes its
business activities impacts upon all its stakeholders including its
employees, tenants, suppliers, the public and the environment.

The main business activities of the Group are the development,
refurbishment and management of commercial property within 
the United Kingdom and the key areas of social responsibility 
relating to these activities are considered to fall within the 
following areas:

1. The Environment
The Group’s development programme supports the principles 
of sustainable development and regeneration and there is a 
major emphasis on the redevelopment of brown field sites as 
well as the improvement and refurbishment of existing buildings. 
The Group aims to comply with all relevant local, national and
international legislation and regulation and where possible seeks 
to implement good environmental practices. All acquisitions 
undergo an assessment in respect of environmental issues as 
part of the Group’s due diligence procedures, in order to ensure 
that responsible measures can be taken to address areas of 
concern to both the public and the future commercial success 
of the project undertaken by the Group.
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2. Health and safety
The Group’s health and safety policy and procedures continue to be
updated and implemented, to reflect any legislative and best practice
changes to ensure legislative compliance as a minimum.

The Safety Management Group (SMG) met three times during the 
year and has continued to actively reduce the Group’s risk profile by
monitoring existing risk areas in relation to health and safety and the
introduction of new safety management systems as required.

Control of work undertaken on the property portfolio of the Group 
by contractors is an ongoing risk area and contractor insurance and
safe working practices continue to be monitored with annual checks.

Fire Risk Assessments and Safety Inspections continue to be
undertaken by external consultants bi-annually and annually
respectively on the multi-let properties and these reports are 
recorded and appropriate action agreed by members of the SMG.

3. Employment
The Group recognises the contribution its employees make to 
its continued success. It acknowledges the need to attract and 
retain employees of a high calibre through the operation of an 
equal opportunity policy. The Group  believes in the continuous
development of and provides support to employees to achieve 
their self improvement goals which benefit both the Group and 
its employees.

4. Payments policy
It is the policy of the Group that, in the absence of dispute, amounts
due to trade and other suppliers are settled promptly within their 
terms of payment. The Group does not follow any code or standard 
in payment practice. At the year end amounts owed to trade
creditors in the accounts were the equivalent to 26 days purchases.

5. Charitable and political donations
The Group’s charity committee oversees the direction of charitable
donations, with an emphasis on local and children’s charities, 
and this year the Group made donations totalling £26,827 
(2009 – £23,342). All toner and printer cartridges and obsolete
mobile phones are recycled via charitable organisations. 
No political donations were made during the year (2009 – £nil).

In summary, the Directors as a whole are responsible for the Group’s
Corporate Social Responsibility policy and keeps this policy under
regular review.

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, some 
cash and liquid resources and various items such as trade debtors,
trade creditors etc. that arise directly from its operations. 
Information regarding the Group’s financial instruments is given 
in the Property and Financial Review and in note 16.

Share capital
The issued share capital as at 31st March 2010 was 45,792,655
ordinary shares. There are no restrictions on transfer or limitations 
on the holding of the ordinary shares. None of the shares carry any
special rights with regard to control of the Company. There are 
no known arrangements under which financial rights carried by
shares are held by a person other than the holder of the shares 
and no known agreements or applicable restrictions on share
transfers or voting rights. The Company has employee share
schemes in which the voting rights in respect of the shares are
exercisable by the employees.

The rules about the appointment and replacement of Directors are
contained in the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”).
Changes to the Articles must be approved by shareholders in
accordance with the Articles and applicable legislation. The
Company’s Articles will be available for inspection at the Annual
General Meeting and in accordance with applicable legislation.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
In accordance with Article 146 of the Company’s Articles of
Association and to the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, 
the Company maintains Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
which is reviewed annually.

Annual General Meeting
The sixty-fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held 
at The Royal Thames Yacht Club, 60 Knightsbridge, London SW1 
on 22nd July 2010 at 12.00 noon.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting the following resolutions
will be proposed which constitute special business:

Power to allot shares
The Directors were granted authority at the last Annual General
Meeting held in 2009 to allot relevant securities up to a nominal
amount of £3,022,315. That authority will apply until the conclusion
of this year's Annual General Meeting. At this year's Annual General
Meeting shareholders will be asked to grant an authority to allot
shares in the Company and to grant rights to subscribe for or 
convert any security into shares in the Company (i) up to a nominal
amount of £3,052,843, and (ii) comprising equity securities up to 
a nominal amount of £6,105,687 (after deducting from such limit 
any shares or rights allotted or granted under (i)), in connection 
with an offer by way of a rights issue, (the "Section 551 authority"),
such Section 551 authority to apply until the end of next year's
Annual Generel Meeting (or, if earlier, until the close of business 
on 21st October 2011).

A special resolution will also be proposed to renew the Directors'
power to make non-pre-emptive issues for cash in connection with
rights issues and otherwise up to a nominal amount of £457,926.
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Market purchase of shares
A special resolution will be proposed to renew the Directors’
authority to repurchase the Company’s ordinary shares in the 
market. The authority will be limited to a maximum of 4,579,265
ordinary shares and sets the minimum and maximum prices which
may be paid.

Calling of general meetings
As last year, a special resolution will be proposed to allow general
meetings (other than the Annual General Meeting) to be called on
not less than 14 clear days’ notice.

Amendments to the Articles of Association
A special resolution will also be proposed to amend the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Significant agreements
There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors 
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
employment that occurs because of a takeover bid.

Some of the Group’s banking arrangements may be terminable 
upon a change of control of the Company.

Auditors
In accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006, a
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditors 
of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this
Directors’ Report confirm that so far as they are each aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware; and each Director has taken all reasonable steps 
that he ought to have taken as a Director to make himself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information. This confirmation is given 
in accordance with Section 418(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of Directors responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Report and Financial
Statements and the Group and Company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company
financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they are
required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and have elected to prepare the
Company financial statements on the same basis.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of their
profit and loss for that period.

In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, 
the Directors are required to: 

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

� make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

� state whether they have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and

� prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 
and the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
tranasctions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure 
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’
Remuneration Report and a Corporate Governance Statement that
comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions.

Signed by order of the Board
3rd June 2010 J.S. McKeown
Reading Secretary
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Statement of the Directors Responsibilities
For the year ended 31st March 2010
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

� the Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
Group; and

� the Report of the Directors, incorporating the Financial Highlights
page, Chairman’s Statement and the Property and Financial
Review includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Group, 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken 
as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties that they face.

3rd June 2010 S.C. Perkins
Managing Director

A.S. Childs
Finance Director
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board considers that the Company has complied fully with the
provisions set out in Section 1 of The Combined Code on Corporate
Governance (“the Code”) as updated in June 2008 throughout the
year ended 31st March 2010.

The role of the Board
The Board formulates strategy and is responsible for the
management of the Group. A schedule of matters specifically
reserved for the Board, the content of which is reviewed annually,
has been adopted by the Board and includes dividend policy, 
major capital expenditure, investments and disposals.

Board balance and independence
For the year to 31st March 2010, the Board of Directors 
comprised four executive Directors (Mr S. Morrice to 8th May 2009)
and four non-executive Directors, their biographical details being set 
out on page 18. Mr A.E.G. Gulliford is Senior Independent Director. 
Mr D.O. Thomas, Mr A.E. Gulliford, Mr N. Aslin and Viscount Lifford
are considered by the Board to be independent as Chairman and
Non-executive Directors. The Board is satisfied that no individual or
group of Directors has unfettered powers of discretion and that an
appropriate balance exists between the executive and non-executive
members of the Board. The Board formally met eight times in the 
last year and is provided with full and timely information in order to
discharge its duties. There was full attendance at all meetings.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are and will continue 
to be separate. Induction training is available to new Directors and
continuing professional development training is available for existing
Directors as necessary. Board members have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary and independent legal
advice at the Company’s expense, if required.

Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operation for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Conflicts of Interest
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s Articles
of Association were amended at the 2006 Annual General Meeting 
to allow the Board to authorise conflicts and potential conflicts of
interest that may arise. The Board has adopted a policy and effective
procedures for managing and, where appropriate, approving conflicts
or potential conflicts of interest. Only Directors who have no interest 
in the matter being considered will be able to make the relevant
decision and, in taking the decision, the Directors must act in a way
they consider in good faith will be the most likely to promote the
success of the Company.

Board performance appraisal
A formal annual appraisal of the Board, its Committees and individual
Directors was undertaken in March 2010. The Board evaluation
consisted of an internally run exercise using an appraisal
questionnaire on a range of benchmarks. It was concluded that 
the Board operated in an effective manner, and identified a number 
of ways in which Board and Committee process could be developed 

in the future. The performance of individual Directors was based on 
one-to-one interviews with the Chairman or in the case of the
Chairman, with the Senior Independent Director.

Committees
There are three Committees that make recommendations to the
Board, all of which have clear terms of reference that comply with 
the Code; these are reviewed annually and are available on the
Company’s website, www.mckaysecurities.plc.uk. There was 
full attendance at all three Committees during the year.

Audit Committee
Viscount Lifford is identified as having recent and relevant 
financial experience as required by the Code and is Chairman 
of the Committee which met three times in the last year. 
Other members consisted of Mr A.E.G. Gulliford and Mr N. Aslin. 
Mr D.O. Thomas was appointed a member of the Committee 
on 1st April 2010. Its responsibilities include reviews and
recommendations on internal control including half yearly
management reports, external audit, the Group’s financial 
statements and accounting policies and ensuring the 
independence of the Group’s auditors. It discharges these
responsibilities by holding bi-annual meetings with the external
auditors to review these reports.

Remuneration Committee
This Committee met three times in the last year and its members 
and policy are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on 
pages 26 to 31. The Remuneration Report contains details in 
respect of Corporate Governance issues such as appointments 
and remuneration.

Nomination Committee
Mr N. Aslin is Chairman of the Nomination Committee which 
met three times in the last year. The other members are 
Mr A.E. Gulliford, Mr S.C. Perkins, Mr D.O. Thomas and 
Viscount Lifford. The responsibilites of the Committee include
succession planning and maintaining an appropriate balance 
of skills for the composition of the Board. External search 
consultants and advertising are used as appropriate.

Relations with shareholders
The Directors meet with institutional shareholders and shareholders
have an opportunity to question the Board at the Group’s Annual
General Meeting. Shareholders are given not less than 21 days 
notice of the Annual General Meeting. The Chairmen of the 
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee attend the Annual General Meeting to answer questions.
Shareholders are given the opportunity of voting separately on each
proposal and proxy votes are announced after each resolution and
posted on the Company’s website, www.mckaysecurities.plc.uk.

In addition, there is also a comprehensive investor relations section 
on the Company’s website, which includes annual and interim
reports, stock exchange releases, details of the Group’s portfolio 
and day to day contact details for the Managing Director and
Company Secretary.
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The Company has a share account management and dealing facility
for all shareholders via Equiniti Shareview. This offers shareholders
secure access to their account details held on the share register 
to amend address information and payment instructions directly, 
as well as providing a simple and convenient way of buying and
selling the Company’s ordinary shares. For internet services 
visit www.shareview.co.uk or the investor relations section of
the Company’s website. The Shareview Dealing service is also
available by telephone on 08456 037 037 between 8.30am 
and 4.30pm Monday to Friday.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for establishing and reviewing the Group’s
system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investment and
the Group’s assets.

In accordance with the Code, an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the risks faced by the Group was in place
throughout the year to 31st March 2010 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and accounts. The executive Directors
and senior management meet on a regular basis and are responsible
for identifying key risks and assessing their likely impact on the
Group. The Group has an established system of internal financial
control which is designed to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records and the reliability of financial information used
within the business. However, such a system is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The system of internal 
control includes:

Financial reporting
Annual and long term revenue, cash flow and capital forecasts are
updated quarterly during the year. Results and forecasts are
reviewed against budgets and regular reports are made to the 
Board on all financial and treasury matters.

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, some cash 
in liquid resources and various items such as trade debtors and trade
creditors that arise directly from its operations.The main purpose 
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest and liquidity risks. The Board reviews and agrees policies 
for management of these risks. The policies remain under regular
review. The Group finances its operations through a mixture of
retained profits, sales of investment properties and bank borrowings.
The Group's policy is to borrow at both fixed and floating rates of
interest and considers these and interest rate derivatives to generate 
the desired interest rate profile in order to manage the Group’s
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

The Group has no financial assets, other than short term debtors 
and cash at bank and no foreign currency loans. 

The details of the Group’s financial liabilities are set out in Note 16
on pages 54 to 56.

Investment and development appraisal
The Board is regularly presented with details of capital expenditure
and progress on developments and all property acquisitions and
disposals including detailed appraisals, sensitivity analysis and 
due diligence reports.

Close involvement of executive Directors
The Group has a small management team operating from one
location. Accordingly, the Board exercises close control over the
Group’s activities. This enables the close involvement of the
executive Directors with the day to day operational matters of 
the Group. The Board therefore considers that there is no present
necessity for an internal audit function.

Identification of business risks
The risks facing the Group are kept under constant review.
Important areas including financial covenants on bank borrowing,
tenant default, liquidity and interest rate movements on bank
borrowings are discussed in further detail within the Property 
and Financial Review on pages 14 and 15. Other important 
areas such as risk management, corporate taxation, legal matters,
fraud, detailed insurance cover and contracts including maintenance
and property management all come under the direct control of 
the executive Directors and are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
All matters are reported to the Board on a regular basis.

REIT compliance
Internal monitoring is in place to ensure compliance with the
appropriate rules.

The Directors confirm that they have specifically reviewed the
framework and effectiveness of the system of internal control for 
the year ended 31st March 2010.

Whistleblowing
The Company has a written whistleblowing policy circulated to 
all staff within the Company’s Staff Handbook which details the
procedures for staff to raise any concerns regarding possible
corporate malpractice in confidence.
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Table of attendance

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

(8 meetings) (3 meetings) (3 meetings) (3 meetings)

D.O. Thomas 8 – 3 3
S.C. Perkins 8 13 13 3
A.S. Childs 8 13 – –
S.R. Mew 8 – – –
A.E. Gulliford 8 3 3 3
N. Aslin 8 3 3 3
Viscount Lifford 8 3 3 3

1In attendance by invitation.

Signed by order of the Board
3rd June 2010 J.S. McKeown
Reading Secretary
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The Remuneration Committee ("the Committee") consists solely 
of non-executive Directors. The members of the Committee are:

Mr A.E.G. Gulliford (Chairman)
Mr D.O. Thomas
Mr N. Aslin
Viscount Lifford

No member has any personal interest in the matters decided by the
Committee, nor any day to day involvement in the running of the
business and therefore all members are considered by the Company
to be independent. The Committee members have no personal
financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the matters to be
decided.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company’s website, www.mckaysecurities.plc.uk.

The Committee met three times during the year under review to
consider the terms and conditions of employment of the executive
Directors and senior executives and to set remuneration packages
and to operate the Group’s performance related bonus and share
option schemes.

During the year the Committee received independent advice from
Hewitt New Bridge Street on a range of remuneration issues.
Hewitt New Bridge Street provides no other services to the Group.
The Committee also refers to other comparable companies within
the property sector with regard to information on compensation 
and salary of executive Directors and senior executives with 
similar responsibilities. The Managing Director and Finance Director
attend meetings on occasions by invitation.

Policy
The policy of the Committee is to align the interests of the executive
Directors with those of shareholders by structuring the levels of
basic salary and remuneration to attract, retain and motivate
executive Directors of the quality required and with appropriate skills
to manage and develop the Group successfully. In this regard when
determining the level of remuneration the Committee aims to provide
a proportion of the Directors’ remuneration through performance
related elements, being a performance share plan and a bonus plan.
The Committee is cognisant of the potential for executive
remuneration policies to encourage undue risk taking, but is
satisfied that the Group’s policy is appropriate in this regard, with 
a sensible balance between fixed and performance linked pay and
the use of different performance metrics measured over differing
periods.

The remuneration package is reviewed on 1st April annually, and 
for the year under consideration consists of:

i) Basic salary and benefits
Basic annual salaries for executive Directors are reviewed
annually on 1st April. These are reviewed on the basis of 
the performance of the individual executive Director and the
comparability with other similar sized companies within the
sector. Benefits include a car allowance, and medical and life
insurance.  See Table 1.

For the year commencing 1st April 2010, increases awarded to 
Mr S.C. Perkins and Mr A.S. Childs were 2%, which was in line 
with increases awarded to employees generally. An increase 
of 10% was awarded to Mr S.R. Mew, to reflect the fact that 
his positioning had been below market level.

ii) Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The Group operates a PSP which was formally approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 25th July 2007.
Under this Plan, share awards are granted to executive Directors
on an annual basis equivalent to 100% of their salary, with
release of the shares subject to the achievement of performance
targets. Over a 3 year period the performance targets for PSP
awards are a combination of comparative Total Shareholder
Return (TSR) and absolute NAV performance. The weighting
between the NAV and TSR elements of the PSP award is a
40/60 split weighted to TSR to reflect a focus on shareholder
returns given the long-term nature of the PSP.

The Group’s TSR is measured against a comparator group of 
quoted real estate sector companies.  The calibration scale for 
the TSR element of the PSP award permits 30% of the award 
to vest if the Group’s TSR performance is at the median of the 
group increasing to 100% if the Group’s TSR performance is 
at or above the upper quartile of the group.

The NAV performance scale permits 30% of the award to
vest for average annual NAV growth of 6% in excess of RPIX 
over the 3 year period, increasing on a straight line basis so 
that 100% of the award vests for average annual NAV growth 
of 25% in excess of RPIX over the 3 year period.

The Committee considers that the mix of NAV and TSR 
performance conditions provide an appropriate balance 
between focussing management on achieving both company-
specific financial and relative stock market out-performance. 
Performance conditions are independently calculated by Hewitt 
New Bridge Street and verified by the Committee.

The PSP is compliant with the ABI’s dilution guidelines in that 
no more than 5% of share capital can be issued in any 10 year 
period to satisfy awards under discretionary share schemes and 
no more than 10% of share capital can be issued in any 10 year 
period to satisfy awards under all share schemes.
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iii) Annual Bonus Scheme
The performance conditions for the Plan in the year to 
31st March 2010 were real NAV growth per share and 
real TSR with a 60/40 weighing towards NAV growth. 
The calibration scale was real (in excess of RPIX) growth 
of 3% to 10% pa, on a straight-line basis, for both the NAV 
and TSR elements of annual bonus, with 30% of the initial 
award for each element payable for threshold performance. 
The maximum bonus payable if all performance measures were
fully met was 75% of basic salary.

The TSR performance condition has been achieved in full 
and the NAV condition has been achieved at a 79.5% level. 
Accordingly the formulaic outturn of the bonus suggested that 
a bonus of 65.8% of salary should be payable.

However, at the beginning of the financial year, the Committee 
determined that the level of bonus payable in the event that 
performance conditions were fully or partially met should be 
reduced commensuate with any reduction in the dividend paid 
for the year. Accordingly the bonus payable for the year to 
March 2010 will be 38.0% of basic salary.

For the financial year to March 2011 it is intended that the same 
TSR and NAV performance conditions will apply.

iv) Pension Contribution
Mr A.S. Childs participates in a Group HMRC approved final 
salary non contributory pension scheme, which provides 
pension and protection in the forms of life cover and lump 
sums and dependants' pension in the event of death in 
service or in retirement. Pensionable salary is basic salary 
excluding any benefits. The cost of this pension provision 
is £81,885 (2009 — £81,885), calculated by reference 
to the Company's contribution rate in respect of the members 
of that scheme.

Since 1989 no new members have been admitted to the 
approved final salary non contributory scheme.

The Company operates a money purchase pension scheme 
for Mr S.C. Perkins and Mr S.R. Mew, with contributions of 
£52,821 and £28,665 being made during the year respectively.

Service contracts
The service contracts for Mr S.C. Perkins, Mr A.S. Childs and 
Mr S.R. Mew are dated 16th March 2004. The service contracts 
are terminable by the Company on not less than one year’s notice. 
In each case the contracts are subject to six months’ notice by the
executive Director. The Committee considers all proposals for the
early termination of the service contracts for executive Directors and
senior executives and would observe the principle of mitigation.

Mr S. Morrice’s employment as a Director was terminated on 
8th May 2009. A compensation package was agreed by the
Remuneration Committee in accordance with his Terms and
Conditions of employment.
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Director’s Remuneration Report continued

Performance graph
The chart shows the Group’s Total Shareholder Return compared 
to the FTSE Real Estate Index and The FTSE All Share Index over
the past five years.

This chart shows the value of £100 invested in 
McKay Securities PLC on 1st April 2005 compared with 
£100 invested in the FTSE Real Estate Index and the 
FTSE All Share Index. These indices have been chosen 

by the Remuneration Committee as they are considered 
to be an appropriate benchmark against which to assess 
the relative performance of the Group.

� The Total Shareholder Return for the year ended 
31st March 2010 was 55% (2009 – minus 64%).

� The Total Shareholder Return for the five year period ended 
31st March 2010 was minus 44% (2009 – minus 46%).
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Non-executive Directors’ fees
The remuneration of Non-executive Directors is recommended 
by the Board within the levels set in the Articles of Association. 
Non-executive Directors are not eligible for any other benefits. 
Non-executive Directors are not appointed for specific terms 
as required by provision A.7.2 of the Combined Code, because 
it is not considered to be in the best interests of the Group. 
The Non-executive Directors have rolling contracts providing for 
them to retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association. To comply with the Revised Combined Code 
all Directors will submit themselves for re-election at least 
once every 3 years. The terms of appointment for the 

Non-executive Directors are dated 29th April 2004 in respect 
of Mr A.E.G. Gulliford, 31st August 2005 in respect of 
Mr D.O. Thomas, 2nd May 2006 in respect of Mr N. Aslin 
and 29th August 2006 in respect of Viscount Lifford. 
The non-executive Directors do not have service contracts.

The auditors are required to report on the information contained 
in this section of the Report.

Details of individual Directors' remuneration are given in 
Table 1 below:

Table 1 31st March
Salary/ Estimated 2010 2009

fees Benefits bonus Total Total
£ £ £ £ £

Executive 
S.C. Perkins 275,750 28,154 104,765 408,669 305,866
A.S. Childs 198,750 21,581 75,511 295,842 219,234
S.R. Mew 182,000 20,770 69,147 271,917 203,908
S. Morrice (to 8.5.09) 18,629 2,045 6,239 26,913 195,505

Non-executive
Viscount Lifford 30,000 — — 30,000 30,000
A.E.G. Gulliford 30,000 — — 30,000 30,000
D.O. Thomas 50,000 — — 50,000 50,000
N Aslin 30,000 — — 30,000 30,000

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Total 815,129 72,550 255,662 1,143,341 1,064,513
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
Details of share awards granted under the PSP are set out below. These awards are conditional upon the achievement of the performance
conditions described earlier in this Report.  No awards vested during the year.

Table 2
Market
price at As at As at
date of 1st April 31st March Final

Date of grant 2009 2010 vesting
grant Pence Number Granted Vested Number date

Executive
S.C. Perkins 03.08.2007 378.00 70,106 — — 70,106 03.08.2010

10.07.2008 183.00 150,683 — — 150,683 10.07.2011
26.06.2009 116.08 — 237,545 — 237,545 26.06.2012

A.S. Childs 03.08.2007 378.00 50,529 — — 50,529 03.08.2010
10.07.2008 183.00 108,607 — — 108,607 10.07.2011
26.06.2009 116.08 — 171,213 — 171,213 26.06.2012

S.R. Mew 03.08.2007 378.00 46,296 — — 46,296 03.08.2010
10.07.2008 183.00 99,454 — — 99,454 10.07.2011
26.06.2009 116.08 — 156,784 — 156,784 26.06.2012

Employees 03.08.2007 378.00 155,423 — — 155,423 03.08.2010
10.07.2008 183.00 322,541 — — 322,541 10.07.2011
26.06.2009 116.08 — 367,258 — 367,258 26.06.2012

1111 1111 1111 1111

1,003,639 932,800 — 1,936,439
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa
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Director’s Remuneration Report continued

Details of the share options held by Directors as at 31st March 2009 and 2010, issued pursuant to the 
2001 Executive Share Option Scheme, are as follows:

Table 3 – 2001 Executive Share Option Scheme
As at As at Option

1st April 31st March price
2009 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2010 p

S.C. Perkins (a) 57,143 — — — 57,143 178.50
(b) 115,942 — — — 115,942 172.50
(c) 100,000 — — — 100,000 215.00
(d) 82,142 — — — 82,142 280.00
(e) 59,008 — — (59,008) — 423.67

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

414,235 — — (59,008) 355,227
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

A.S. Childs (a) 44,950 — — — 44,950 178.50
(b) 86,956 — — — 86,956 172.50
(c) 74,418 — — — 74,418 215.00
(d) 60,714 — — — 60,714 280.00
(e) 42,486 — — (42,486) — 423.67

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

309,524 — — (42,486) 267,038
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

S.R. Mew (a) 23,809 — — — 23,809 178.50
(b) 72,464 — — — 72,464 172.50
(c) 62,792 — — — 62,792 215.00
(d) 51,428 — — — 51,428 280.00
(e) 38,946 — — (38,946) — 423.67

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

249,439 — — (38,946) 210,493
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Employees (a) 44,537 — — — 44,537 178.50
(b) 111,014 — — — 111,014 172.50
(c) 158,836 — — — 158,836 215.00
(d) 148,216 — — — 148,216 280.00
(e) 116,895 — — (116,895) — 423.67

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

579,498 — — (116,895) 462,603
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Share total 1,552,696 — — (257,335) 1,295,361
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

No options were granted to Directors or employees during the year.

The middle market price of the ordinary shares at 31st March 2010
was 153p. The range of middle market prices of the ordinary shares
during the year was 165p to 94p.

The performance conditions for the Fifth Tranche were not met and
options over 257,335 shares (2009 – nil) lapsed during the year.

The performance conditions for the first four tranches have been met
and the options can be exercised as follows:

(a) Options granted under the Schemes – First Tranche July 2002.
The exercise price is 178.50p and the options are exercisable
between 26th July 2005 and 25th July 2012.

(b) Options granted under the Schemes — Second Tranche 
July 2003. The exercise price is 172.50p and the options are
exercisable between 1st July 2006 and 30th June 2013.

(c) Options granted under the Schemes – Third Tranche July 2004.
The exercise price is 215p and the options are exercisable
between 9th July 2007 and 8th July 2014.

(d) Options granted under the Schemes – Fourth Tranche July
2005. The exercise price is 280p and the options are exercisable
between 1st July 2008 and 30th June 2015.

(e) Options granted under the Schemes – Fifth Tranche December
2006. The exercise price is 423.67p and the options exercisable
between 8th December 2009 and 9th December 2016.
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Directors’ pension entitlements

Transfer Transfer
Accumulated Increase in value value Increase

accrued accrued of accrued of accrued in transfer
pension pension pension pension value

at year during at start of at the end over
end the year the year of the year the year

The pension benefits £ £ £ £ £
earned by Mr A.S. Childs
during the year are as follows: 135,150 5,127 2,170,700 2,298,200 127,500

Directors’ share interests
The interests in the shares of the Company of each Director were as follows:

At 31st March 2010 At 31st March 2009
Ordinary Ordinary

Beneficial shares Percentage shares Percentage

D.O. Thomas 31,421 0.069 5,429 0.012
A.S. Childs 36,600 0.080 36,600 0.080
A.E.G. Gulliford 35,000 0.076 35,000 0.076
S.C. Perkins 75,699 0.165 75,699 0.165
S.R. Mew 15,456 0.034 15,456 0.034
N. Aslin 2,000 0.022 2,000 0.022
Viscount Lifford 24,000 0.052 24,000 0.052

Non beneficial

A.S. Childs 78,750 0.172 78,750 0.172
S.C. Perkins 78,750 0.172 78,750 0.172

3rd June 2010 By Order of the Board
A.E.G. Gulliford

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

The Group provides pension entitlements to 
Mr A.S. Childs which are defined benefit in nature. 
All other executive Directors are members of money 

purchase schemes. The contributions made for each Director 
into money purchase schemes during the year are as set out 
on page 27.

The non-beneficial holdings of Mr S.C. Perkins and Mr A.S. Childs
reflect their interest in 78,750 ordinary shares held as Trustees of 
the McKay Securities PLC Pension and Life Assurance Scheme. 
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Report of the Independent Auditors

To the members of McKay Securities PLC
We have audited the financial statements of McKay Securities PLC 
for the year ended 31st March 2010 which comprise the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 
Group and Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Company
Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Company Statements of
Changes in Equity and the related notes. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent company financial
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 22, the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical
Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is
provided on the APB's web-site at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKP. 

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

� the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state 
of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 
31st March 2010 and of the group's profit for the year then 
ended;

� the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 

� the parent company financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and 
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006; and 

� the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards 
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

� the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited 
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006; and

� the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year 
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; and

� information given in the Corporate Governance Statement 
set out on pages 23 to 25 with respect to internal control and 
risk management systems in relation to financial reporting 
processes and about share capital structures is consistent 
with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion

� adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

� the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

� certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

� we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

� a Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by
the Company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

� the Directors' Statement, set out on page 22, in relation to going
concern; and

� the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 23 
to 25 relating to the Company's compliance with the nine
provisions of the 29th June 2008 Combined Code specified for
our review.

Stephen Bligh
Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Arlington Business Park
Theale
Reading  RG7 4SD

3rd June 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31st March 2010
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2010 2009
Notes £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111

Gross rents and service charges receivable 2 19,988 23,544
Surrender premiums received 221 61
Direct property outgoings (4,611) (4,905)

1111 1111

Net rental income from investment properties 2 15,598 18,700
Administration costs 3 (4,155) (3,276)

1111 1111

Operating profit before gains on investment properties 11,443 15,424
Profit/(loss) on disposal of investment properties 4 236 (2,909)
Movement in revaluation of investment properties 12 6,739 (80,713)

1111 1111

Operating profit/(loss) 5 18,418 (68,198)
Net finance costs – finance costs 7 (3,201) (30,014)

– finance income 7 24 68
(3,177) (29,946)

Share of results of associated undertaking 14 141 (2,717)
1111 1111

Profit/(loss) before taxation 15,382 (100,861)
Taxation – credit for the year 8 — 1

1111 1111

Profit/(loss) for the year 15,382 (100,860)
aaaa aaaa

Other comprehensive income:
Actuarial movement on defined benefit pension scheme (101) (662)

1111 1111

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,281 (101,522)
aaaa aaaa

Earnings per share 10
Basic 33.59p (220.26)p
Diluted 33.17p (220.26)p

Adjusted earnings per share figures are shown in note 10.

Dividends 11
Previous year’s final dividend of 9.5p 
(2008 – 9.6p) paid during the year 4,350 4,396

Interim dividend of 2.7p
(2009 – 4.7p) paid during the year 1,236 2,152

Proposed final dividend of 5.5p
(2009 – 9.5p) 2,519 4,350

The total comprehensive income for the year is all attributable to the equity holders of the parent company.
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Group Balance Sheet
For the year ended 31st March 2010

2010 2009
Notes £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111

Non-current assets
Investment properties 12 204,896 222,338
Plant and equipment 13 16 34
Investments 14 2,304 2,207

1111 1111

207,216 224,579
1111 1111

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 15 6,313 6,839
Cash and cash equivalents 677 1,210

1111 1111

6,990 8,049
1111 1111

Total assets 214,206 232,628
1111 1111

Current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings 16 (13,000) —
Trade and other payables 16 (7,869) (7,166)
Finance lease liabilities 17 (286) (286)
Interest rate derivatives 16 (3,297) (2,225)

1111 1111

(24,452) (9,677)
1111 1111

Non-current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings 16 (76,141) (116,099)
Pension fund liabilities 24 (1,096) (1,060)
Finance lease liabilities 17 (4,123) (4,124)
Interest rate derivatives 16 (19,235) (22,603)

1111 1111

(100,595) (143,886)
1111 1111

Total liabilities (125,047) (153,563)
1111 1111

Net assets 89,159 79,065
aaaa aaaa

Equity
Called up share capital 20 9,159 9,159
Share premium account 2,495 2,495
Capital reserves 49,878 60,315
Revaluation reserve 10,996 (6,676)
Retained earnings 16,631 13,772

1111 1111

Total equity 89,159 79,065
aaaa aaaa

Net asset value per share 22 195p 173p

EPRA net asset value per share 22 234p 223p

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 3rd June 2010 and were signed 
on its behalf by D.O. Thomas and S.C. Perkins
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2010 2009
Notes £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111

Non-current assets
Investment properties 12 157,160 174,717
Plant and equipment 13 16 34
Investments 14 23,910 23,910

1111 1111

181,086 198,661
1111 1111

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 15 26,401 25,565
Cash and cash equivalents 645 1,177

1111 1111

27,046 26,742
1111 1111

Total assets 208,132 225,403
1111 1111

Current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings 16 (13,000) —
Trade and other payables 16 (16,325) (15,366)
Interest rate derivatives 16 (3,297) (2,225)

1111 1111

(32,622) (17,591)
1111 1111

Non-current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings 16 (76,141) (116,099)
Pension fund liabilities 24 (1,096) (1,060)
Interest rate derivatives 16 (19,235) (22,603)

1111 1111

(96,472) (139,762)
1111 1111

Total liabilities (129,094) (157,353)
1111 1111

Net assets 79,038 68,050
aaaa aaaa

Equity
Called up share capital 20 9,159 9,159
Share premium account 2,495 2,495
Capital reserves 20,455 30,899
Revaluation reserve 12,763 (5,994)
Retained earnings 34,166 31,491

1111 1111

Total equity 79,038 68,050
aaaa aaaa

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 3rd June 2010 and were signed 
on its behalf by D.O. Thomas and S.C. Perkins

Company Balance Sheet
For the year ended 31st March 2010
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Group Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31st March 2010

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax 15,382 (100,861)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 22 29
Other non-cash movements 639 675
(Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties (236) 2,909
Movement in revaluation of investment properties (6,739) 80,713
Net finance costs 3,177 29,946
Share of (profit)/loss of associate undertaking (141) 2,717

1111 1111

Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital 12,104 16,128
Increase in debtors (275) (1,331)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 63 (442)

1111 1111

Cash generated from operations 11,892 14,355
Interest paid (5,055) (5,807)
Interest received 24 102
Corporation tax paid — (3,467)

1111 1111

Cash flows from operating activities 6,861 5,183
1111 1111

Investing activities
Sale of investment properties 27,331 19,291
Dividends from sundry investments 1 2
Dividends from associated undertaking 45 135
Purchase and development of investment properties (2,150) (10,167)
Purchase of other fixed assets (4) (11)
Purchase of sundry investments — (4)

1111 1111

Cash flows from investing activities 25,223 9,246
1111 1111

Financing activities
Decrease in borrowings (27,031) (11,784)
Equity dividends paid (5,586) (6,548)

1111 1111

Cash flows from financing activities (32,617) (18,332)
1111 1111

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (533) (3,903)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,210 5,113

1111 1111

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 677 1,210
aaaa aaaa
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Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31st March 2010

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax 16,276 (81,554)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 22 29
Other non-cash movements 810 588
(Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties (236) 3,220
Movement in revaluation of investment properties (8,077) 60,922
Net finance costs 2,465 29,089
Dividends from subsidiaries (2,000) –
Share of profit of associate undertaking (45) (135)

1111 1111

Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital 9,215 12,159
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (1,638) 1,640
Increase in creditors 285 1,495

1111 1111

Cash generated from operations 7,862 15,294
Interest paid (5,297) (5,898)
Interest received 978 1,015
Corporation tax paid – (2,737)

1111 1111

Cash flows from operating activities 3,543 7,674
1111 1111

Investing activities
Sale of investment properties 27,331 16,880
Dividends from sundry investments 1 2
Dividends from subsidiaries 2,000 –
Dividends from associated undertaking 45 135
Purchase and development of investment properties (831) (10,247)
Purchase of other fixed assets (4) (12)
Purchase of sundry investments – (4)

1111 1111

Cash flows from investing activities 28,542 6,754
1111 1111

Financing activities
Decrease in borrowings (27,031) (11,784)
Equity dividends paid (5,586) (6,548)

1111 1111

Cash flows from financing activities (32,617) (18,332)
1111 1111

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (532) (3,904)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,177 5,081

1111 1111

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 645 1,177
aaaa aaaa
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Share Share Revaluation Capital Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

At 1st April 2008 9,159 2,495 84,047 56,326 34,876 186,903
Loss for the year — — — — (100,860) (100,860)
Other comprehensive income:

Transfer deficit on revaluation 
of properties — — (80,713) — 80,713 —

Transfer share of deficit on revaluation
of properties in associated undertaking — — (3,038) — 3,038 —

Transfer on disposal of investment 
properties — — (6,972) 3,989 2,983 —

Actuarial loss on defined benefit 
pension scheme — — — — (662) (662)

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Total comprehensive income for the year — — (90,723) 3,989 (14,788) (101,522)
Dividends paid in year — — — — (6,548) (6,548)
Fair value of share based payments — — — — 232 232

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2009 9,159 2,495 (6,676) 60,315 13,772 79,065

Profit for the year — — — — 15,382 15,382
Other comprehensive income:

Transfer surplus on revaluation 
of properties — — 6,739 — (6,739) —

Transfer share of surplus on revaluation
of properties in associated undertaking — — 55 — (55) —

Transfer on disposal of investment 
properties — — 10,642 (10,437) (205) —

SIC 15 historic valuation transfer — — 236 — (236) —
Actuarial loss on defined benefit 

pension scheme — — — — (101) (101)
1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 17,672 (10,437) 8,046 15,281
Dividends paid in year — — — — (5,586) (5,586)
Fair value of share based payments — — — — 399 399

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2010 9,159 2,495 10,996 49,878 16,631 89,159
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31st March 2010
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Share Share Revaluation Capital Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

At 1st April 2008 9,159 2,495 60,369 28,678 55,881 156,582
Loss for the year — — — — (81,554) (81,554)
Other comprehensive income:

Transfer deficit on revaluation 
of properties — — (60,922) — 60,922 —

Transfer on disposal of investment 
properties — — (5,441) 2,221 3,220 —

Actuarial loss on defined benefit 
pension scheme — — — — (662) (662)

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Total comprehensive income for the year — — (66,363) 2,221 (18,074) (82,216)
Dividends paid in year — — — — (6,548) (6,548)
Fair value of share based payments — — — — 232 232

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2009 9,159 2,495 (5,994) 30,899 31,491 68,050

Profit for the year — — — — 16,276 16,276
Other comprehensive income:

Transfer surplus on revaluation 
of properties — — 7,841 — (7,841) —

Transfer on disposal of investment 
properties — — 10,680 (10,444) (236) —

SIC 15  historic valuation transfer — — 236 — (236) —
Actuarial loss on defined benefit 

pension scheme — — — — (101) (101)
1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 18,757 (10,444) 7,862 16,175
Dividends paid in year — — — — (5,586) (5,586)
Fair value of share based payments — — — — 399 399

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2010 9,159 2,495 12,763 20,455 34,166 79,038
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31st March 2010
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1 Statement of accounting policies

Basis of preparation
Both the Parent Company financial statements and the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs”) and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

In accordance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 a separate Statement of Comprehensive Income for McKay Securities PLC 
is not presented. The profit after tax of the Company is £16,276,000 (2009 – loss: £81,554.00).

IAS 1 – (revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. The Group has elected to present a single performance statement; a Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the revised disclosure requirements.

IAS 40 – (amended) ‘Investment Property’. IAS 40 has been amended to bring within its scope investment property under construction.
Consequently such property is measured at fair value. The Group had previously accounted for investment properties in the course of
development as investment properties, and consequently this amendment has not affected the Group’s reporting.

IFRS 8 – Operating Segments became effective for the Group for the year ended 31st March 2010, replacing IAS 14. The Group is
organised as a single reporting segment. Management information is produced quarterly for each property and for the Group as a whole. 
No data is provided to the Managing Director and the Board at any level between individual property and Group wide. Similarly, the 
Group’s small management team is organised in a single structure. All the Group’s revenues are derived from the ownership of 
investment properties. The Group’s investment properties are located in South East England and central London, with the exception 
of a single property in Glasgow.

The Group is dependent for its working capital requirements on cash generated from operations, cash holdings of £677,000 as at 
31st March 2010 and bank facilities of £185.0 million (of which £89.6 million was drawn at 31st March 2010). Facilities totalling 
£155.0 million are secured to at least 2016 and the earliest repayment date in respect of £30.0 million is March 2011. Of this 
£30.0 million, only £13.0 million has been drawn and this will be repaid from existing facilities. The Directors have prepared cash 
flow projections which show that the Group expects to be able to operate within these financing arrangements.

In evaluating the going concern assumption the Directors have considered various uncertainties, including the impact of further falls in 
property values and increased levels of tenant default. These uncertainties, and the finance position of the Group, are discussed in more 
detail in the Property and Financial review on pages 14 and 15. The Directors have in particular considered the financial covenants contained
within the Group’s financing arrangements which it is required to comply with, the most significant of which are the loan to value covenants 
and Group gearing covenants where the Group, as at 31st March 2010, had headroom to accommodate further falls in the capital value of 
the Group’s property portfolio of up to £50.0 million in the absence of further property disposals or other fund raising.

After considering these uncertainties and the financing position of the Group, the Directors consider it appropriate that the Annual Report is
prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Group will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due, for the foreseeable future.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of the Company and its subsidiary companies for the year ended 
31st March 2010. Subsidiary companies are those entities under the control of the Company. Control means the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Associates
An associate is an undertaking over which the Group has significant influence, but not control over the financial and operating policies. 
The Group's share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates is included in the consolidated financial statements on an equity
accounted basis. Investments in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost as adjusted by the post-acquisition changes in the 
Group's share of the net assets of the associate.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The differences
between the interest payable by the Group and the interest payable to the Group by the swap counterparties are dealt with on an accruals
basis.

The instruments are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date which is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to
terminate the instruments. The Group has not applied hedge accounting for any financial instrument in place and any movement in fair value 
is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March 2010
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1 Statement of accounting policies continued

Properties
The Group's properties are held as investments to earn rental income and for capital appreciation and are stated at fair value at the balance
sheet date. The value, based on market values, is determined at each reporting date by independent external valuers and any gain or loss 
arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and transferred to the revaluation reserve in 
the balance sheet.

Properties purchased are recognised on legal completion in the accounting period. Sales of properties are recognised on unconditional
exchange of contracts in the accounting period when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

When an existing investment property is redeveloped for continued future use as an investment property it remains an investment property
whilst in development.

Subsequent expenditure on investment properties is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits associated with the
property. All other expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest and other outgoings less rental income relating to investment properties in the course of development are capitalised, before tax
relief, and added to the cost of the property. Interest capitalised is calculated on development expenditure, including material refurbishments
to investment properties, using the weighted average cost of general Group borrowings for the year.

A property ceases to be treated as being in the course of development when substantially all the activities that are necessary to prepare the
property for use are completed.

The Group's investment properties held on long leases are accounted for as finance leases and carried at fair value. The present value of the
future minimum lease payments is recognised as a liability with a corresponding asset added to the carrying value of the leasehold property.
The minimum lease payments are apportioned between finance charges in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the reduction of
the balance sheet liability. Contingent rents are charged as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period incurred.

Any accrued rent receivable recognised as a separate asset in accordance with the Group's accounting policy on lease incentives is
deducted from the external valuation.

Gains and losses arising on the disposal of investment properties are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, being the
difference between net sale proceeds and the carrying value of the property. These gains and losses are then allocated to the capital reserve
in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment assets are depreciated on a straight line basis at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value over
their useful lives, which are estimated to be between 3 and 5 years.

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group's and Company’s assets, other than investment property measured at fair value and deferred tax assets, 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Assets subject to impairment losses are
stated at their estimated recoverable amount, being the greater of the net selling price or value-in-use, the loss being recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration received. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Rental income
Rental income receivable under operating leases from investment properties is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on 
a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

The Group treats the aggregate value of incentives given to lessees as a reduction of rental income over the lease term in accordance with 
SIC 15 “Operating Leases – Incentives”.

Surrender premiums received from outgoing tenants prior to the expiry of their lease are included in income from investment properties.

Borrowing costs
Interest on overdrafts and other bank borrowing is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period during which it is
incurred, except for interest capitalised in accordance with the Group's policy on properties under development (see Properties above). 
The interest expense component of finance lease payments is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the lease term.
Facility arrangement costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the facility term.

Interest received on short term deposits is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues.
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1 Statement of accounting policies continued

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash at bank and short terms deposits held on call. Cash equivalents comprise investments with minimal risk to changes in
value that are readily convertible into cash with an original maturity of three months or less.

Trade and other receivables and payables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at invoice cost, unless there is an impairment provision if there is evidence that the Group will not
be able to collect in full. Trade and other payables are recognised at invoice cost.

Performance share plan
The Group operates a performance share plan under which Directors and employees are able to acquire shares in the Company.

The fair value of the nil cost awards is derived from a Monte Carlo valuation model which also factors in the expected share price volatility 
and that of comparator companies, and takes account of the TSR performance conditions. The valuation is spread over the vesting period 
of three years, with adjustment when non-market conditions are not expected to be met.

Share option scheme
The Group operates a share option scheme under which directors and employees are able to acquire shares in the Company. The option
exercise price is equal to the mid-market price of the underlying shares at the date of the grant. 

The fair value of the benefit of the options awarded is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the vesting period of the
award by reference to a binomial option pricing model, adjusted only for the number of shares expected to vest.

Post employment benefits
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, being externally invested.

The Group’s net liability in respect of the defined benefit scheme is recognised in the balance sheet. Actuarial gains and losses arising 
in respect of the Group's liabilities are recognised in the period they occurred directly into equity, through the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. The liabilities of the defined benefit pension scheme are measured at the present value while scheme assets are measured at their
fair value. Current service cost and interest on scheme liabilities less the expected return on scheme assets are recognised as an expense 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Group also contributes to certain eligible employees’ defined contribution personal pension plans and does not accept any
responsibility for the benefits gained from these plans. The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income as incurred but the Group does not recognise any gains or losses arising from movements in the value of the personal pension plans.

Reserves
The revaluation reserve represents the surpluses and deficits arising on revaluation of the Group’s properties. This reserve comprises
unrealised profits and losses and is not available for distribution until realised through sale.

The capital reserve represents realised gains arising from the sale of properties and is available for distribution.

Taxation
The tax charge in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises current and deferred tax except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in reserves, in which case the related tax is recognised in reserves.

Current tax is based on the taxable income for the year and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Taxable income may
exclude income and expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The tax rate is that enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.

From 1st April 2007, the Group converted to REIT status and no corporation tax is payable on qualifying property income.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method, without discounting, on temporary differences arising between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that there will be future taxable profits against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax is calculated at the rate enacted or
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

From 1st April 2007, no deferred tax is recognised on properties covered by the REIT regime. All deferred tax liabilities relating to properties 
in the REIT were released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on 31st March 2007.
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2 Net rental income from investment properties
2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Gross rents receivable 16,796 19,173
SIC 15 adjustment 321 1,094

1111 1111

Gross rental income 17,117 20,267
Service charges receivable 2,871 3,277

1111 1111

19,988 23,544
Surrender premiums received 221 61
Direct property outgoings (4,611) (4,905)

1111 1111

15,598 18,700
aaaa aaaa

Rent receivable under the terms of the leases is adjusted, in accordance with SIC 15, for the effect of any incentives given.

3 Administration costs
2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Group
Directors’ — remuneration 888 1,064

— bonus 255 —
Staff — costs 662 641

— bonus 115 —
Redundancy 224 —
Pension costs 492 384
Share based payment accounting charge 399 232

1111 1111

3,035 2,321
Depreciation (note 13) 22 29
Office costs 481 438
Legal and professional fees 577 448
General expenses 40 40

1111 1111

4,155 3,276
aaaa aaaa

The average number of persons employed by the Group and Company (including Directors) during the year was 18 (2009 – 19).

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Employee costs
Salaries 1,722 1,529
Redundancy 224 —
Social security costs 198 176
Pension costs – defined benefit scheme 264 158

– defined contributions 228 226
Share based payment accounting charge 399 232

1111 1111

3,035 2,321
aaaa aaaa
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3 Administration costs continued

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Fees paid to auditors
Audit of these financial statements 63 60

Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 3 3
Tax services 51 48
Other services 16 16
REIT status advice 8 12
VAT advice — 5

1111 1111

141 144
aaaa aaaa

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditors in respect of services to the Company, other than the audit of the Company’s financial statements,
have not been disclosed as the information is required instead to be disclosed on a consolidated basis.

Details of Directors’ remuneration can be found on page 29 in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

4 Profit/(loss) on disposal of investment properties

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Disposal proceeds 27,331 19,291
Carrying value (27,095) (22,200)

1111 1111

236 (2,909)
aaaa aaaa

5 Operating profit

Operating profit is identified in the income statement and represents the profit on activities before finance costs, share of associated
undertakings and taxation.
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6 Adjusted profit before tax

Adjusted profit before tax is the Group’s preferred measure to provide a clearer picture of recurring profits from core rental activities before
tax, adjusted as set out below.

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Profit/(loss) before tax 15,382 (100,861)
Surrender premium received (221) (61)
Change in fair value of derivatives (2,296) 23,675
Movement in revaluation of investment properties (6,739) 80,713
(Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties (236) 2,909
Associated undertaking disposals and revaluation movement 38 2,940

1111 1111

Adjusted profit before tax 5,928 9,315
aaaa aaaa

7 Net finance costs

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Interest on bank overdraft and loans 5,139 5,987
Finance lease interest on leasehold property obligations 285 285
Finance arrangement costs 73 67
Fair value (profits)/losses on derivatives (2,296) 23,675

1111 1111

3,201 30,014
Interest receivable (24) (68)

1111 1111

3,177 29,946
aaaa aaaa
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8 Taxation
2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Current tax — —
Adjustments in respect of prior periods — (1)

1111 1111

Total tax credit in the Statement of Comprehensive Income — (1)
aaaa aaaa

Reconciliation to effective rate of tax:
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax 15,382 (100,861)

1111 1111

Tax charge/(credit) on profit/(loss) at 28% (2009 – 28%) 4,307 (28,241)
Effects of:

REIT tax exemption (4,234) 27,467
Permanent differences (116) 10
Other timing differences 4 3
Associated undertaking 39 761
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years — (1)

1111 1111

Tax credit for period (as above) — (1)
aaaa aaaa

9 Development outgoings

Interest relating to investment properties in the course of development is dealt with as explained in note 1 and consists of:

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Gross interest (note 7) — —
aaaa aaaa

Total development interest capitalised to date amounts to £6,108,488 (2009 – £6,108,488).
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10 Earnings per share
2010 2009

p p
1111 1111

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 33.59 (220.26)
Change in fair value of derivatives (5.01) 51.70
Movement in revaluation of investment properties (14.72) 176.26
Surrender premium received (0.48) (0.13)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties (0.51) 6.35
Associated undertaking disposals and revaluation movement 0.08 6.42

1111 1111

Adjusted earnings per share 12.95 20.34
aaaa aaaa

Basic earnings/(loss) per share on ordinary shares is calculated on the profit in the year of £15,382,000 (2009 – loss: £100,860,000) and
45,792,655 (2009 – 45,792,655) shares, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

2010 2009
Number Number

of shares of shares
11111 11111

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 45,792,655 45,792,655
Number of shares under option 3,188,978 2,369,681
Number of shares that would have been issued at fair value (2,611,110) (2,174,378)

11111 11111

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 46,370,523 45,987,958
aaaaa aaaaa

2010 2009
p p

1111 1111

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share 33.17 (220.26)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares under option — 0.94
Change in fair value of derivatives (4.95) 51.48
Movement in revaluation of investment properties (14.53) 175.51
Surrender premium received (0.47) (0.13)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties (0.51) 6.32
Associated undertaking disposals and revaluation movement 0.08 6.39

1111 1111

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 12.79 20.25
1111 1111

EPRA earnings per share 13.26 20.38
aaaa aaaa

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated on the same profit/(loss) after tax and on the weighted average diluted number of shares in
issue during the year of 46,370,523 (2009 – 45,987,958) shares, which takes into account the number of potential ordinary shares under
option. No account has been taken in diluted loss per share of potential ordinary shares in 2009 where their conversion to ordinary shares
would decrease the loss per share but is included to arrive at adjusted diluted earnings per share.

Adjusted earnings per share excludes the after tax effect of profit from the disposal of investment properties, surrender premiums received, 
the change in the fair value of derivatives and the movement in revaluation of investment properties. The EPRA measure includes all of these
adjustments except for surrender premiums which are added back.
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11 Dividends

The final dividend is not included in the accounts as a liability as at 31st March 2010, as it is subject to shareholder approval at the 
Annual General Meeting. The final dividend for 2009 and interim for 2010 paid in the year are included in the Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Equity on page 39.

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Ordinary dividends
Previous year’s final dividend of 9.5p (2008 – 9.6p) paid during the year 4,350 4,396
Interim dividend of 2.7p (2009 – 4.7p) paid during the year 1,236 2,152

1111 1111

Total recognised in financial statements 5,586 6,548
aaaa aaaa

Proposed final dividend of 5.5p (2009 – 9.5p) 2,519 4,350
aaaa aaaa
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12 Investment Properties
Group Company

Long
Freehold leasehold Total Freehold

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
1111 1111 1111 1111

Valuation
At 1st April 2009 199,987 22,351 222,338 174,717
Additions – development 648 1,257 1,905 648
Revaluation surplus/(deficit) 7,062 (2) 7,060 8,132
Adjustment for rents recognised in advance under SIC 15 (55) (30) (85) (55)
Disposals (26,282) — (26,282) (26,282)
Amortisation of grossed up headlease liabilities — (40) (40) —

1111 1111 1111 1111

Book value as at 31st March 2010 181,360 23,536 204,896 157,160
1111 1111 1111 1111

Adjustment for grossing up of headlease liabilities — (3,986) (3,986) —
Adjustment for rents recognised in advance under SIC 15 4,970 70 5,040 4,970

1111 1111 1111 1111

Valuation as at 31st March 2010 186,330 19,620 205,950 162,130
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Group Company
Long

Freehold leasehold Total Freehold
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 1st April 2008 282,777 31,963 314,740 245,097
Additions – acquisitions 7,969 — 7,969 7,969

– development 1,508 (96) 1,412 1,503
Revaluation deficit (72,243) (7,379) (79,622) (59,828)
Adjustment for rents recognised in advance under SIC 15 (1,094) 3 (1,091) (1,094)
Disposals (18,930) (2,100) (21,030) (18,930)
Amortisation of grossed up headlease liabilities — (40) (40) —

1111 1111 1111 1111

Book value as at 31st March 2009 199,987 22,351 222,338 174,717
1111 1111 1111 1111

Adjustment for grossing up of headlease liabilities — (4,026) (4,026) —
Adjustment for rents recognised in advance under SIC 15 5,728 40 5,768 5,728

1111 1111 1111 1111

Valuation as at 31st March 2009 205,715 18,365 224,080 180,445
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on properties there was an external valuation at 31st March 2010. This valuation was carried 
out in England by Mellersh and Harding, Chartered Surveyors and Valuers, and in Scotland (100 Bothwell Street, Glasgow) by CB Richard Ellis,
Chartered Surveyors and Valuers, in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards of RICS, on an open market basis.

The historical cost of properties stated at valuation is approximately £184 million (2009 – £221 million) for the Group and £140 million 
(2009 – £178 million) for the Company.



McKay Securities PLC  
Report and Financial Statements 201051

13 Plant and equipment

2010 2009
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 111111 111111 111111

Cost
At 1st April 550 547 552 549
Additions 4 4 12 12
Disposals (1) (1) (14) (14)

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 553 550 550 547
1111 1111 1111 1111

Depreciation
At 1st April 516 513 501 498
Charge for year 22 22 29 29
Disposals (1) (1) (14) (14)

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 537 534 516 513
1111 1111 1111 1111

Net book value at 31st March 16 16 34 34
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

14 Investments

Shares in Investment
subsidiary in associated

undertakings undertaking Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111

Company
At 1st April 2008 23,806 100 — 23,906
Additions — — 4 4

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2009 23,806 100 4 23,910
Additions — — — —

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2010 23,806 100 4 23,910
1111 1111 1111 1111

Group
At 1st April 2008 — 5,056 — 5,056
Share of loss, net of tax — (2,853) 4 (2,849)

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2009 — 2,203 4 2,207
Share of profit, net of tax — 97 — 97

1111 1111 1111 1111

At 31st March 2010 — 2,300 4 2,304
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa
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14 Investments continued

At 31st March 2010 McKay Securities PLC had the following wholly owned subsidiary undertakings all of which operate in England and are
registered in England and Wales with the exception of Celina Holdings Limited which is registered in Gibraltar:

Acreway Limited Baldwin House Limited Celina Holdings Limited

Parkside Knightsbridge Limited McKay Securities Overseas Limited S. W. Factories Limited

The principal activity of the subsidiary undertakings is property investment and development.

On 8th April 2010, Parkside Knightsbridge Limited, McKay Securities Overseas Limited and S. W. Factories Limited were liquidated. 
As at 31st March 2010 these investments had a carrying value of nil.

The Directors are of the opinion that the investment in the subsidiary undertakings is worth not less than the current book value.

The investment in the associated undertaking represents 20% of the issued share capital of 450,000 £1 ordinary shares of Property
Investment Holdings Limited. The company is engaged in property investment and development in mainly the office and industrial sectors 
of the South East of England, is unlisted and registered in England.

The Group’s share of results and net assets of the associated undertaking, Property Investment Holdings Limited, is as follows:

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Income statement
Net rental income 700 770
Administration expenses (251) (317)
Net loss on disposal of investment properties (53) (85)
Movement in revaluation of investment properties 55 (3,038)

1111 1111

Operating profit/(loss) 451 (2,670)
Net interest payable (269) (230)

1111 1111

Profit/(loss) before tax 182 (2,900)
Taxation (41) 183

1111 1111

Profit/(loss) after tax 141 (2,717)
aaaa aaaa

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Balance sheet
Investment properties 8,201 8,395
Current assets 174 285

1111 1111

Total assets 8,375 8,680
1111 1111

Current liabilities (350) (520)
Loans (5,556) (5,800)
Deferred taxation (179) (157)

1111 1111

Total liabilities (6,085) (6,477)
1111 1111

Group share of net assets 2,290 2,203
aaaa aaaa
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15 Trade and other receivables

2010 2009
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111

Trade receivables 56 56 38 16
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings — 20,684 — 19,169
SIC 15 lease incentives 5,040 4,970 5,768 5,728
Other debtors and prepayments 1,217 691 1,033 652

1111 1111 1111 1111

6,313 26,401 6,839 25,565
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

All the above debtors are receivable within one year except for lease incentives of £4,594,000 (2009 – £5,332,000), accrued in accordance
with SIC 15. The carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of the fair values estimated as the present value of future cash flows.

Group trade receivables that were past due but not impaired are as follows:
2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Less than three months due — 5
Between three and six months due 34 12
Between six and twelve months due 22 21

1111 1111

56 38
aaaa aaaa

The Group holds no collateral in respect of these receivables.
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16 Liabilities

2010 2009
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 11111 1111

Trade and other payables
Rent received in advance 3,399 2,627 3,911 3,118
Other taxation and social security costs 660 660 620 620
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings — 10,845 — 9,688
Other creditors and accruals 3,810 2,193 2,635 1,940

1111 1111 1111 1111

7,869 16,325 7,166 15,366
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

The fair value of current liabilities estimated as the present value of future cash flows approximate their carrying amounts due to the short term
maturities.

Loans and other borrowings
The analysis of bank loans which are secured on certain of the freehold and leasehold properties of the Group is as follows:

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Group and Company
Secured bank loans repayable at stated dates
between 2011 and 2017 at variable rates 89,600 116,600

Bank facility fees (459) (501)

1111 1111

89,141 116,099
aaaa aaaa

The bank loans are secured against land and buildings with a carrying amount of £194,360,000 (2009 – £221,615,000).

2010 2009
Repayable in: Group Company Group Company

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
1111 1111 1111 1111

Less than 1 year 13,000 13,000 — —
1-2 years — — 15,000 15,000
2-5 years — — — —
5-10 years 76,141 76,141 101,099 101,099

1111 1111 1111 1111

89,141 89,141 116,099 116,099
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa
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16 Liabilities continued

Borrowing facilities
The Group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available in respect of which all conditions precedent had been
met were as follows:

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Expiring in less than 1 year 17,000 —
Expiring in 1 – 2 years — 15,000
Expiring in 2 – 5 years — —
Expiring in 5 – 10 years 78,400 53,400

1111 1111

95,400 68,400
aaaa aaaa

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is managed through committed bank facilities that ensure sufficient funds are available to cover potential liabilities arising against
projected cash flows. The Group’s facilities are revolving, allowing the Group to apply cash surpluses to temporarily reduce debt.

Exposure to credit and interest rate risks arise in the normal course of the Group's business. Derivative financial instruments are used to 
reduce exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Credit risk
Credit evaluations are performed on all tenants looking to enter into lease or pre-lease agreements with the Group. Credit risk is managed 
by tenants paying rent in advance. Outstanding tenants’ receivables are regularly monitored.

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk, except for the low risk lease commitments which were either
government department or held a top credit rating. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset including derivative financial instruments on the balance sheet.

The Group has no exposure to currency risks.

Interest rate risk
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that its exposure to interest rate fluctuations is mitigated by the use of financial instruments.
Participating swaps and interest rate swaps have been entered into to achieve this purpose. The swaps mature over the next 32 years,
subject to break options from 2014, and have swap rates ranging from 3.99% to 5.17% and collars of 3.00% to 5.00%. Provision is made
within the terms of the financial instruments for the counterparty bank to terminate the instruments by invoking credit breaks in 2016/2017. 
If such a credit break were exercised, a payment would be made between the parties dependent on market value at that time. The instruments
also provide the counterparty bank with additional break options. Should these breaks be exercised, there would be no payment liability on 
the Group. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

A 15 basis points change in interest rate levels would increase or decrease the Group’s annual profit and equity by £98,000 
(2009 – £384,000). The comparative figure for 2009 was based on a 100 basis points change in interest rates. The 15 basis points 
change being used shows how the profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were
reasonably possible at the year end. This sensitivity has been calculated by applying the interest rate charge to the variable rate borrowings,
net of interest rate swaps, at the year end.
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16 Liabilities continued

Swaps for Group and Company

Fair
Hedged Average1 Fair value
amount Average maturity value adjustment

As at 31st March 2010 £’000 rate – years £’000 £’000
1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Interest rate swaps 25,000 4.12% 4.75 (3,040) 301
Interest rate caps 130,000 5.00% 1.58 275 (16)
Interest rate floors 130,000 3.06% 1.58 (3,791) (7)
Forward start interest rate swaps 115,000 4.86% 6.36 (15,976) 2,018

1111 1111

(22,532) 2,296
aaaa aaaa

As at 31st March 2009
Interest rate swaps 25,000 4.12% 5.75 (3,341) (1,755)
Interest rate caps 130,000 5.00% 2.58 291 (282)
Interest rate floors 130,000 3.06% 2.58 (3,784) (3,644)
Forward start interest rate swaps 115,000 4.86% 7.36 (17,994) (17,994)

1111 1111

(24,828) (23,675)
aaaa aaaa

1to expiry or break whichever is earlier

The fair value of interest rate derivatives has been split between current and non-current liabilities according to the expected timing of
cashflows as follows:

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Current (3,297) (2,225)
Non-current (19,235) (22,603)

1111 1111

(22,532) (24,828)
aaaa aaaa

2010 2009
1111 1111

Weighted average cost of borrowing 4.9% 4.4%
aaaa aaaa

The Group does not hedge account its interest rate derivatives and states them at fair value in the balance sheet based on quotations from 
the Group’s banks, any movement passing through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. All financial liabilities are classed as level 2 
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy stated in IFRS 7. The fair value of these level 2 contracts are estimated by discounting expected
future cash flows using current market interest rates and yield curve over the remaining term of the instrument.

There are no liabilities at maturity and no material unrecognised gains or losses.

The Group had a surplus of hedging instruments over drawn loans and other borrowings at 31st March 2010 of £65,859,000 
(2009 surplus £38,901,000).

In both 2010 and 2009 there was no difference between the book value and the fair value of all the other financial assets and liabilities of 
the Group and Company.
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17 Obligations under finance leases

Minimum lease
payments

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Group finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year 286 286
In second to fifth years inclusive 1,142 1,142
Later than five years 27,232 27,518

1111 1111

28,660 28,946
Less future finance charges (24,251) (24,536)

1111 1111

Present value of lease obligations 4,409 4,410
1111 1111

The above finance lease liabilities relate to investment properties with a carrying value of £19,620,000 (2009 – £18,365,000). The terms 
of these lease agreements are for periods of between 99 and 125 years. There are no restrictions imposed by the lease agreements. 
No contingent rents are payable.

Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in event of default.

18 Operating leases

The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases.

The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Not later than one year 14,887 16,908
Later than one year but not later than five years 45,708 57,498
Later than five years 37,276 50,924

1111 1111

97,871 125,330
aaaa aaaa
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19 Share based payments

At 31st March 2010, the Group had two share based payment arrangements, which are described below. In each case, the expected volatility
was determined by calculating historical volatility of the Group’s share price.

2001 Executive Share Option Scheme
The options are exercisable after three years but before 10 years, subject to certain performance criteria. If the performance criteria have not
yet been met by the third anniversary of the date of grant the options lapse. The performance criteria, where applicable, are based on an
increase in NAV equal to or greater than the RPIX over the same period plus 6%.

Weighted
average

Number exercise
of options price
11111 11111

At 31st March 2009 1,552,696 250p

Lapsed during year (257,335)
11111 11111

At 31st March 2010 1,295,361 215p
aaaaa aaaaaa

There were no options granted in the year.

The equity-settled options outstanding at 31st March 2010 are exercisable between 172.5 pence and 423.67 pence per share. The grants
made since 7th November 2002 have been fair valued using a binomial option pricing model using the following main assumptions:

30th June 8th July 30th June 8th December
2003 2004 2005 2006

111111 111111 111111 111111

Exercise price 172.5p 215.0p 280.0p 423.7p
Interest rate 3.5% 4.50% 4.75% 4.91%
Dividend yield 3.75% 3.75% 3.75% 2.55%
Volatility 15.3% 15.3% 20.0% 20.00%
Term of option 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years
Fair value per share 19.69p 30.06p 57.15p 106.54p

Performance Share Plan
The peformance targets for PSP awards are a combination of TSR and absolute NAV performance over a three year period. 
If the performance criteria have not been met at the end of the vesting period then the awards will lapse.

The nil cost awards outstanding at 31st March 2010 have been fair valued using a Monte Carlo valuation pricing model using the following
main assumptions:

26th June 10th July 3rd August
Grant date 2009 2008 2007

111111 111111 111111

Share price £1.16 £1.83 £3.78
Term 3 years 3 years 3 years
Risk free rate 2.18% 4.82% 5.47%
Dividend yield 7.3% 7.8% 2.9%
Volatility – Company 40% 32% 26%
Volatility – Comparators 40% to 91% 21% to 46% 13% to 31%
TSR fair value 0.55 £0.86 £2.38
NAV fair value 0.93 £1.45 £3.48
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20 Called up share capital

2010 2009
Issued Issued

and and
Authorised fully paid Authorised fully paid

£ £ £ £
11111 11111 11111 11111

Ordinary shares of 20p each 9,158,531 9,158,531 9,158,531 9,158,531
Unissued ordinary shares of 20p each 3,341,469 — 3,341,469 —

11111 11111 11111 11111

12,500,000 9,158,531 12,500,000 9,158,531
aaaaa aaaaa aaaaa aaaaa

2010 2009
Number Number

£ of shares £ of shares
11111 11111 11111 11111

Ordinary shares in issue
At 1st April 9,158,531 45,792,655 9,158,531 45,792,655
Allotted under share option schemes — — — —

11111 11111 11111 11111

At 31st March 9,158,531 45,792,655 9,158,531 45,792,655
aaaaa aaaaa aaaaa aaaaa

During the year no ordinary shares (2009 – nil) were issued under the Executive Share Option Schemes.

21 Related party transactions

The Company received dividends from some of its subsidiary undertakings during the year, these transactions are detailed below:

Balance
Dividends received owed to/(owing from)

2010 2009 2010 2009
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111

Subsidiary undertakings
Acreway Limited 2,000 — 10,845 9,688
Baldwin House Limited — — (12,116) (12,094)
Celina Holdings Limited — — (8,560) (7,075)

1111 1111 1111 1111

2,000 — (9,831) (9,481)
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

There were no transactions with Directors, who are considered key management personnel, other than remuneration, details of which are
provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 31.



McKay Securities PLC  
Report and Financial Statements 2010 60

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March 2010
22 Net asset value per share

2010 2009
Net Net

Net asset value Net asset value
assets Shares per share assets Shares per share
£’000 ’000 p £’000 ’000 p

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Basic 89,159 45,793 195 79,065 45,793 173
Number of shares under option 3,144 3,232 (7) 3,874 2,556 (1)

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Diluted 92,303 49,025 188 82,939 48,349 172
Adjustment to fair value of derivatives 22,532 — 46 24,828 — 51

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

EPRA NAV 114,835 49,025 234 107,767 48,349 223
Adjustment to fair value of derivatives (22,532) — (46) (24,828) — (51)

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

EPRA NNNAV 92,303 49,025 188 82,939 48,349 172
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

23 Commitments and contingent liabilities

2010 2009
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111

Capital expenditure committed but not provided for 1,021 786 1,106 846
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

The capital commitments of the Group at the year end were due mainly to outstanding commitments in respect of the refurbishment of
Lombard Street, London EC3, Mallard Court, Staines and Poyle. The majority of the commitments will have been incurred by March 2011.

24 Pensions

The Group and Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme in the U.K. providing benefits based on final pensionable salary. 
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, being invested with insurance companies and managed funds. 
The contributions are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of a triennial valuation using the attained age method. The most recent
actuarial valuation was as at 31st March 2008. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuation are
those relating to the rate of return on investments and the rate of increase in salaries. It was assumed that the investment returns would be
7.9% per annum and that salary increases would average 5.0% per annum.

A contribution rate of 41.2% of total pensionable salaries was recommended to meet the cost of accruing liabilities. Premiums for death
benefits and scheme administration are in addition to this rate. The most recent actuarial valuation showed that the market value of the
scheme’s assets was £5,451,000 which represents 82% of the scheme’s liabilities, after allowing for future expected increases in earnings.

At the 31st March 2008 actuarial valuation the scheme was 82% funded on the continuing valuation basis. A recovery plan has been agreed
aimed at removing the deficit on the continuing valuation basis over a period of 7 years from 1st April 2008. 

The valuation for the pension scheme disclosures is based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 31st March 2008 and updated by 
First Actuarial in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme at 31st March 2010. Scheme assets are stated at their market value at 
31st March 2010.
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24 Pensions continued

The assets of the scheme have been taken at market value and the liabilities have been calculated using the following principal actuarial
assumptions:

31st March 31st March
2010 2009

1111 1111

Inflation 3.50% 2.50%
Salary increases 4.50% 3.50%
Rate of discount 5.50% 6.70%
Pension in payment increases 3.40% 2.40%

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31st March 2010 imply the following life expectancies for members currently aged 60:

Male 26.3 years

£’000 £’000
1111 1111

The fair value of scheme assets are as follows:
Equities 2,844 2,107
Property 171 92
Gilts 1,027 514
Corporate and overseas bonds 884 242
Cash 311 1,558
Other 880 165

1111 1111

6,117 4,678
aaaa aaaa

The asset split is approximated using the current fund splits for each manager.

Changes in the value of scheme assets over the year
Market value of assets at start of year 4,678 5,485
Expected return on scheme assets 200 368
Actuarial gains/(losses) 1,148 (1,284)
Employer contributions 329 327
Benefits paid (238) (218)

1111 1111

Market value of assets at end of year 6,117 4,678
aaaa aaaa

Expected long term rate of return
Equities 7.65% 7.00%
Property 7.65% 7.00%
Gilts 4.40% 3.80%
Corporate and overseas bonds 5.50% 6.70%
Cash and other 0.50% 0.50%

The amount included in the Group and Company balance sheets arising from the liabilities in respect of the defined benefits scheme 
is as follows:

31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Market value of scheme assets 6,117 4,678 5,485 5,746 5,304
Value of defined benefit obligation (7,213) (5,738) (6,052) (6,078) (6,005)

1111 1111 1111 1111 1111

Deficit in scheme (1,096) (1,060) (567) (332) (701)
aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa aaaa

Gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities
Due to experience 134 (19) 27 (87) 38
Due to change of basis (1,383) 641 230 228 (386)

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme assets 1,148 (1,284) (710) 61 718
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24 Pensions continued

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:
31st March 31st March

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Operating profit
Current service cost 85 124

aaaa aaaa

Analysis of the amount (credited)/charged to finance costs/(income)
Expected return on pension scheme assets (200) (368)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 379 402

1111 1111

Net return 179 34
1111 1111

Total charge to income statement 264 158
aaaa aaaa

Analysis of the amount recognised directly in equity in the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

31st March 31st March
2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Difference between expected and 1,148 19% of scheme assets (1,284) (27)% of scheme assets 
actual return on assets

Experience gains and losses arising 134 2% of the present value (19) 0% of the present value
on the scheme liabilities of the scheme liabilities of the scheme liabilities 

Effects of changes in the demographic 
and financial assumptions underlying the (1,383) (19)% of the present value 641 11% of the present value
present value of the scheme liabilities of the scheme liabilities of the scheme liabilities 

1111 1111

1% of the present value 11% of the present value
Total (101) of the scheme liabilities (662) of the scheme liabilities

aaaa aaaa

Analysis of the movement in the balance sheet deficit:
31st March 31st March

2010 2009
£’000 £’000

1111 1111

Deficit in scheme at beginning of year (1,060) (567)
Movement in year:

Current service cost (85) (124)
Net interest/return on assets (179) (34)
Contributions 329 327
Actuarial loss (101) (662)

1111 1111

Deficit in scheme at end of year (1,096) (1,060)
aaaa aaaa

The Group expects to contribute approximately 41.2% of total pensionable salaries plus £186,000 to the scheme for the year to 
31st March 2011.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st March 2010
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Glossary

Adjusted EPS
Earnings per share based on profits and adjusted to exclude certain items 
as set out in note 10.

Adjusted profit before tax
Profit before tax adjusted to exclude certain items as set out in note 6.

Book value
The amount at which assets and liabilities are reported in the accounts.

Contracted rent
Rent payable under the terms of a lease, less ground rent, with no allowance
for the value of incentives granted at lease commencement.

Diluted figures
Reported amount adjusted to include the effects of potential shares issuable
under employee share schemes.

Dun and Bradstreet
Provider of business information and risk management insight.

Earnings per share (EPS)
Profit after taxation attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

EPRA
Standard calculation methods for adjusted EPS and NAV as set out by the
European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) in their Best Practice 
and Policy Recommendations.

Gearing (net)
Total borrowings, including bank overdrafts, less short-term deposits and
cash, at book value, as a percentage of shareholders’ funds.

Industrial property
Term used to include light industrial, industrial and distribution warehouse
property falling with classes B1c, B2 and B8 of the Town & Country Planning
Use Classes Order. The terms does not include retail warehousing, falling
within class A1 of the Order.

Initial yield
Net rents payable at the valuation date expressed as a percentage of the
valuation after allowing for notional purchasers’ costs.

Interest cover
The number of times Group net interest payable is covered by underlying 
profit before interest and taxation.

Interest rate swap
A financial instrument where two parties agree to exchange an interest rate
obligation for a pre-determined amount of time.

IPD
Investment Property Databank. Leading provider of independent statistical
analysis to the commercial property sector.

Loan to value
Net debt divided by the value of property assets.

Market rental value
The estimated amount for which floor space should let on the date 
of valuation on appropriate lease terms net of ground rents payable,
disregarding rent over market rent for leases with more than 10 years 
to expiry.

Net asset value (NAV) per share
Total equity divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at the 
period end.

Net debt
Total borrowings less cash credit balances.

REIT (Real Estate Investment Trust)
A tax efficient structure for the management of property. It must be publicly
quoted with 75% of its profits and assets derived from a qualifying property
rental business which is exempt from tax on income and gains.

Rental value growth
Increase in rental value, as determined, at the valuation date, over the period 
on a like-for-like basis.

Reversion
Potential uplift in rental value to market rent, as determined at the valuation
date, likely to arise from a rent review, lease renewal or letting.

RPIX
Retail Prices Index excluding mortgage interest.

Shareholders’ funds
Total equity of the Group.

SIC 15
The IFRS treatment in respect of letting incentives. It requires the Group to
offset the value of incentives granted to lessees  against the total rent due 
over the length of the lease, or to a break clause if earlier.

Stamp duty land tax
Government tax levied on certain legal transactions including the purchase 
of property.

Total shareholder return
The growth in the value of an Ordinary share plus dividends reinvested during
the year expressed as a percentage of the share price at the beginning of the
year.

True equivalent yield
The constant capitalisation rate, which, if applied to all cash flows from an
investment property, including current net reversions and such items as voids
and expenditure, equates to the market value having taken into account
notional purchasers costs and assuming rents paid quarterly in advance.

Weighted average lease length
The average lease term remaining to expiry across the portfolio weighted by
rental income. This is also disclosed assuming all break clauses are exercised
at the earliest date.
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Enquiries relating to shareholders, such as queries
concerning notification of change of address,
dividend payments and lost share certificates,
should be made to the Company’s registrars. 
The Company has a share account management
and dealing facility for all shareholders via 
Equiniti Limited Shareview. This offers
shareholders secure access to their account
details held on the share register to amend
address information and payment instructions
directly, as well as providing a simple and
convenient way of buying and selling the
Company’s ordinary shares. For internet 
services visit www.shareview.co.uk or the investor
relations sections of the Company’s website. 
The Shareview Dealing service is also available by
telephone on 08456 037 037 between 8.30am
and 4.30pm Monday to Friday.

The best way to ensure that dividends are received
as quickly as possible is to instruct the Company’s
registrars to pay them directly into a bank or
building society account; tax vouchers are then
mailed to shareholders separately. Dividend
mandate forms are available from the registrars.
This method also avoids the risk of dividend
cheques being delayed or lost in the post.

Financial information about the Company 
including the Annual and Interim reports, 
public announcements and share price data 
are available from the Company’s website at
www.mckaysecurities.plc.uk and UK Equities
Direct on the Internet at www.hemscott.com.

Financial calendar 2010
Annual Report posted to shareholders 24th June
Annual General Meeting 22nd July
Final dividend 5th August
Interim announcement November
Interim Statement posted to shareholders December

2011
Interim dividend January
Financial year end March
Preliminary announcement June

Secretary
J.S. McKeown A.C.I.S.

Registered Office
20 Greyfriars Road, Reading
Berkshire RG1 1NL
Tel: 0118 950 2333

Registered Number
421479

Website
www.mckaysecurities.plc.uk

Registered Auditor
KPMG Audit Plc 
Chartered Accountants
Arlington Business Park 
Theale, Reading
Berkshire RG7 4SD

Corporate Solicitors
Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London EC1Y 8YY

Registrar and Transfer Office
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House, Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA
U.K.: 0871 384 2101
Overseas: 44(0) 121 415 7047

The document is printed on a
combination of two papers which are
both produced from 100% recycled
fibres sourced from post consumer
waste. The papers are also FSC
certified and manufactured at an 
ISO 14001 accredited mill. 

FSC – Forest Stewardship Council
This ensures there is an audited 
chain of custody from the tree in 
the well-managed forest through 
to the finished document in the
printing factory.

ISO 14001 – A pattern of control 
for an environmental management
system against which an
organisation can be credited 
by a third party.
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